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          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Good morning.

          3  This hearing of the General Welfare Committee is

          4  called to order. I'd like to welcome my colleagues,

          5  Jessica Lappin and Annabel Palma, and I would like

          6  to thank the staff who put this hearing together;

          7  Molly Murphy, Migna Taveras and Aaron Feinstein. I

          8  want to thank them all for their good work

          9  throughout the year, as well.

         10                 Now we are just two days away from

         11  Thanksgiving and I wish everyone here today a Happy

         12  Thanksgiving. I think it is fair to say that

         13  everyone in this room will be sitting down to an

         14  abundant feast on Thanksgiving. But it is astounding

         15  to think about the fact that 1.3 million New Yorkers

         16  do not have that to look forward to necessarily.

         17  According to the study just released today by New

         18  York City Coalition Against Hunger, 1.3 million New

         19  Yorkers live in food insecure households.

         20                 In other words, they cannot afford an

         21  adequate and consistent supply of food. This tracks

         22  very substantially with the most recent U.S. Census

         23  data which proved that nearly one in five New York

         24  City residents live below the poverty level.

         25                 We have to acknowledge at the outset
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          2  of this hearing that we have a real hunger crisis in

          3  New York City. We should not call it anything less

          4  than that. This is before the possibility of our

          5  economy experiencing some downturn. Now no one wants

          6  to see that happen. We all pray that New York City

          7  will somehow avoid some of the negative economic

          8  trends that are facing the country now.

          9                 I think it is unrealistic to make

         10  that assumption. If 1.3 million New Yorkers are

         11  experiencing hunger today, we can only imagine where

         12  this could be going. And at the same time, it always

         13  astounds me how stark the contrast is becoming in

         14  our City. In the papers today, an article about

         15  folks who work at investment banks and brokerage

         16  houses in Manhattan, their average weekly pre-tax

         17  pay, weekly pay, for an individual, $16,918; $16,918

         18  is about the Federal poverty level for a family of

         19  three for an entire year. Where we have about one in

         20  five New Yorkers now at or below the poverty level,

         21  we also have tens of thousands of people in the City

         22  for whom that same dollar figure is their weekly

         23  pay. I think it is quite a striking situation.

         24                 Now, because of the hunger crisis,

         25  New Yorkers are relying more and more on emergency
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          2  food programs. It is increasingly clear those

          3  programs cannot keep up with demands. Part is

          4  because of the Federal government's consistent

          5  cutbacks in the area of food surplus provided to New

          6  York City and other areas. Just since 2004, because

          7  of Federal cutbacks, emergency food programs have

          8  lost approximately 12 million pounds of food that

          9  would have been available to hungry people; just

         10  since 2004.

         11                 We all know the Federal government is

         12  spending a lot of money on some other things lately.

         13  But 12 million pounds of food that could have gone

         14  to the hungry have not materialized because of these

         15  cuts. The report that came out today shows

         16  increasingly that food pantries and soup kitchens

         17  just don't have enough food for the people who need

         18  it. In fact, today's study said 59 percent of

         19  emergency food programs say they lack the resources

         20  to meet demand.

         21                 As we talked about earlier in the

         22  press conference, we need the Federal government to

         23  reauthorize the Farm Bill and we need it to

         24  substantially increase funding for emergency food

         25  programs. But there is no immediate prospect of that
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          2  happening. We have to be clear. The Federal

          3  government has immense responsibility here for

          4  protecting those in need and for feeding the hungry,

          5  but they are not. They are not stepping up to that

          6  responsibility and there is little reason to believe

          7  that will happen in the near term.

          8                 Therefore, I think it is the

          9  responsibility of the City of New York and obviously

         10  the State as well to address this crisis. I can't

         11  think of any area where we should be putting our

         12  resources more than making sure people in this City

         13  are not hungry. I want to propose very quickly six

         14  steps that I think will fundamentally improve the

         15  situation. First of all, HRA should increase funding

         16  for emergency food programs. We are pleased to hear

         17  that there is a step forward today, but we have

         18  farther to go. In fact, the funding is $2 million

         19  less for fiscal '08 than it was just a year or two

         20  ago. The situation with hunger is obviously getting

         21  worse in the City. We have to reverse that trend and

         22  make funding from HRA for emergency food programs

         23  more of a priority.

         24                 We have to stop the practice  of

         25  finger printing food stamp applicants. The State of
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          2  New York is working on possibilities for ending this

          3  practice. It remains one of only four states in the

          4  country that still finger print food stamp

          5  applicants. But despite the State's move in the

          6  direction of reducing the practice of finger

          7  printing, the City of New York persists. I think it

          8  is common sense to say that there is no one who

          9  likes the notion of having to be finger printed. It

         10  is something associate in our minds with a negative

         11  situation. Whether a criminal dynamic or something

         12  else that raises the question of the applicant being

         13  suspected of doing something inappropriate. We don't

         14  finger print people we trust and we don't finger

         15  print people we are trying to help. We shouldn't at

         16  least and still New York City persists in using

         17  finger printing for all food stamp applicants.

         18                 The third point is we need to

         19  increase on- line applications. This is something

         20  Council Member Gioia, who I welcome, and I have been

         21  working on now for years. And although there has

         22  been a beginning, we are no where near utilizing on-

         23  line technology the way so many businesses and other

         24  government entities do around the country to really

         25  improve the ability of people to receive a benefit
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          2  they deserve.

          3                 We should laud the Bloomberg

          4  administration for the progress they have made in

          5  signing up people for food stamps. They definitely

          6  deserve real credit for that. But I think for a lot

          7  of us the fact that there are still several hundred

          8  thousand New Yorkers who qualify and have not been

          9  reached means we simply cannot rest on our laurels;

         10  particularly at this season of the year. When we

         11  think about hundreds of thousands of families that

         12  still could be receiving food stamps and I always

         13  say, the people who need that the most are the

         14  children in those families. They are not the ones

         15  who go to make the application. It is up to their

         16  parents and it is up to the City to make the process

         17  work.

         18                 A fourth thing we have to do is

         19  require less frequent recertification. We have got a

         20  phenomena where many people get food stamps

         21  initially and then fall through the cracks during

         22  the recertification process. There was just a report

         23  from the Urban Justice Center in September that

         24  pointed out that the recertification requirements

         25  discourage ongoing participation in the food stamp
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          2  program. I think it is a real contradiction to

          3  continue reaching out to get people to sign up for

          4  food stamps and then have a recertification process

          5  that discourages them from continuing on food

          6  stamps.

          7                 Over half of the cases closed, in

          8  other words, where people no longer had food stamps

          9  that were looked at by the Urban Justice Center,

         10  were the results of the clients not being able to

         11  appear for an appointment or not being able to

         12  navigate the paperwork and the other requirements.

         13  We need to find a way to make this process more

         14  streamline so people who deserve the food stamps

         15  will continue to have them.

         16                 A fifth item is we have to expand

         17  access to telephone interviews. Again, we need to

         18  use the technology and the approaches that are

         19  prevalent now in the private sector in much of

         20  government to make it simpler for people to access

         21  food stamps and to continue on food stamps. That

         22  requires staff that is trained to handle the

         23  situation and the technology to do it as well. And

         24  sixth and finally, we need to cut down on the

         25  requirement for face- to- face interviews. We have
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          2  pointed this out for years now in the City Council.

          3  Many people who are struggling who have one or more

          4  jobs and I dare say in most cases, low paying jobs,

          5  who have a family to take care of, many cases a

          6  single parent trying to deal with their children and

          7  one or more jobs have a difficult time meeting

          8  interview requirements during working hours.

          9                 We need to do much more to reduce

         10  that interview requirement because again we are

         11  working across purposes. If someone is trying to do

         12  the right thing and trying to be self- sufficient,

         13  needs those food stamps and can't stay in the food

         14  stamp system because they cannot appear for a face-

         15  to- face interview for fear of losing the job that

         16  they have worked so hard to get.

         17                 In conclusion, yes, we should all be

         18  happy that the situation is better than a few years

         19  ago when it comes to food stamp enrollment. We

         20  should all be happy that the Mayor and the Council

         21  are very much on the same page of some of the things

         22  we have to do. But we are not on the same page on

         23  some other areas, most notably on finger printing.

         24  We have a lot of work to do to get people the food

         25  that they need right now through the emergency food
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          2  programs and through food stamps before the economic

          3  situation gets worse and before the demand is even

          4  greater.

          5                 These changes need to be implemented

          6  right away. I think for all of us and my colleagues

          7  and I have been through now six years of these

          8  hearings and there are some of these changes that

          9  could have happened a long time ago and I think now

         10  it is time to say enough is enough. Let's make these

         11  reforms now. Our first witness, oh I'm sorry,

         12  Council Member Gioia we have worked together for

         13  many years on this issue and I thank him for his

         14  contributions to raising the food stamp issue in

         15  particular, would like to make an opening statement.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Thank you, Mr.

         17  Chairman. I will be very brief and I just want to

         18  say that it is a pleasure to be here with you again

         19  this year for this hearing. I was thinking back to,

         20  I guess it has been, it has been six of these and I

         21  remember some of the hearings early on where we

         22  would say things like why is the application 24

         23  pages long. Can't we make it shorter? Some of them

         24  got quite contentious. I hope they will not become

         25  contentious and we have got some pretty good news

                                                            12

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  today. I don't think it will. I'm very happy to see

          3  some progress and I couldn't agree with you more

          4  about what else needs to be done.

          5                 When you hear about us finger

          6  printing applicants still, sometimes what I will do

          7  is try to think about the other side. The other side

          8  of the argument and I will try to argue it in my

          9  head. I was sitting here and I was thinking as you

         10  were talking about food stamps and finger printing,

         11  well if it is such a good idea to finger print folks

         12  before they get government benefits and that's the

         13  City's position, why we wouldn't expand it. Then we

         14  should start finger printing a lot of folks. You

         15  want to get your $400 tax credit, come in and get

         16  finger printed. You want to get a 421A tax credit,

         17  you should be finger printed. You want to get

         18  corporate tax breaks, come on in and get finger

         19  printed.

         20                 I mean if the program works, then we

         21  should continue it and expand it. But if there is

         22  not a rationale for it, then we should probably be

         23  asking ourselves why are we making poor folks do it

         24  and nobody else in the City. But I will say because

         25  I am hopeful that on finger printing and on- line
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          2  applications and so many of the other things that

          3  you are talking about as we move forward into next

          4  year and the year after, we will have the same

          5  success that we did in cutting the application down

          6  in so many other things.

          7                 I will say to the Commissioner and

          8  everyone at HRA, I congratulate you on the good work

          9  that you have done in expanding food stamps access

         10  to the entire City. Not only the folks who are

         11  putting food on their table, but to bring a half of

         12  billion dollars more to New York City is really

         13  extraordinary. I think all of us embrace the

         14  challenge that there is more to be done and the

         15  opportunity for New York is for us to get this

         16  right. Because when we do get it right, not only do

         17  we fulfill our moral obligation to all those who are

         18  hungry in New York, but we set example for cities

         19  and municipalities across the country who will then

         20  replicate our models and truly change the entire

         21  country. I thank you all for being here.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: I thank you,

         23  Council Member Gioia. I think your description of

         24  the idea of expanding finger printing to all areas

         25  of government is a very smart way of pointing out
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          2  just what a contradiction it is. I'm a little sick

          3  of the idea that people who happen to be low- income

          4  and people who happen to be people of color are

          5  subjected to finger printed. But many other people

          6  never once would be asked for a finger print to

          7  access a benefit. You are right. Property owner

          8  rebate is just as much a benefit as food stamps, but

          9  there is very much of a separate and unequal system

         10  here for how we handle that.

         11                 It is obviously having a dampening

         12  effect on people being able to get food and

         13  obviously in particular, children being able to get

         14  food. No one wants to be contentious today. But I

         15  also hope that we don't spend too much time

         16  celebrating the good news when again 1.3 million

         17  people don't have enough food. If anyone intends to

         18  be too self- congratulatory today, I'm not going to

         19  be really in the mood to hear that. I'd now like to

         20  welcome Commissioner David Hansell of the New York

         21  State Office of Temporary and Disability Assistance.

         22  And the Commissioner has worked for a long time on

         23  these issues, both with the City and the State, and

         24  we appreciate his good work. We welcome your

         25  testimony, Commissioner.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER HANSELL: Thank you very

          3  much. Good morning, Chairman DeBlasio, members of

          4  the Committee. Thank you very much for inviting me

          5  to testify today at this oversight hearing on the

          6  topic of Fighting Hunger in New York City. As you

          7  know, I have had the opportunity to sit in this

          8  chair (in fact, this very chair), many times in my

          9  previous role as Chief of Staff at the New York City

         10  Human Resources Administration. I am delighted to be

         11  back in this chamber and before this Committee today

         12  to continue the dialogue on this important topic in

         13  my new capacity as Commissioner of the New York

         14  State Office of Temporary and Disability Assistance.

         15                 I particularly want to focus my

         16  remarks today on the innovative things we are doing

         17  to expand participation in the Food Stamp Program

         18  through Governor Spitzer's Working Families Food

         19  Stamp Initiative, an effort that will get underway

         20  in earnest this coming January with the full

         21  cooperation of HRA and other local social service

         22  districts Statewide. I am delighted that you will

         23  also hear today from HRA Commissioner, Robert Doar,

         24  reinforcing our partnership to expand food stamp

         25  enrollment among working families.
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          2                 Regardless of whether we sit here as

          3  government representatives, advocates, providers or

          4  consumers, we should all agree that food insecurity

          5  is unacceptable in our State and City, and that we

          6  must do everything within our power to remedy it.

          7  Since assuming the position of Commissioner of OTDA,

          8  I have had the opportunity to travel throughout the

          9  State and to see the many difficulties confronting

         10  low- income New Yorkers. These visits have helped me

         11  to better understand the dimensions of poverty

         12  across the State, not the last of which is the

         13  struggle to put food on the table. These first- hand

         14  experiences have helped drive OTDA's current efforts

         15  to support individuals and families in need.

         16                 Over the past decade, helping those

         17  on public assistance gain employment and self-

         18  sufficiency has been OTDA's and HRA's primary focus.

         19  The number of families relying on cash assistance

         20  has dropped dramatically, leading us to broaden our

         21  mission to support those families who, while

         22  working, still struggle to meet their basic needs.

         23  As the reliance on cash assistance has decreased,

         24  there has been a corresponding increase in OTDA's

         25  emphasis on work supports, including food stamps,
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          2  child support, child care, and the federal and state

          3  earned income and child care tax credits. Through

          4  these programs, New York provides a comprehensive

          5  array of supports to help working families pull

          6  themselves up the ladder to economic independence.

          7  The Food Stamp Program has been a particularly

          8  effective tool in these efforts, lifting many

          9  families out of the cycle of food insecurity.

         10                 New York has been in the forefront of

         11  developing new and creative ways to improve

         12  participation in the Food Stamp Program, and I

         13  appreciate the acknowledgment of that earlier, and

         14  this hard work has paid off. Between 2002 and 2007,

         15  New York's food stamp participation increased

         16  steadily from about 1.35 million to 1.8 million

         17  recipients. During this time, we instituted the New

         18  York State Nutrition Improvement Program, which

         19  automatically enrolls elderly and disabled

         20  individuals who receive Federal SSI and live alone.

         21  Through this single initiative, we were able to

         22  connect almost 100,000 people with food stamp

         23  benefits, with more than half of these households

         24  residing in New York City.

         25                 Also, we were ahead of the federal
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          2  government in providing transitional food stamp

          3  benefits to recipients leaving cash assistance and

          4  transitioning into the workforce, the first State to

          5  do so even prior to Federal options becoming

          6  available. To supplement these initiatives, New York

          7  adopted a number of significant simplified reporting

          8  options allowed under Federal law. All of these

          9  activities were taken in partnership with New York

         10  City and HRA, have contributed to the substantial

         11  increase in enrollment and have other states looking

         12  to New York as a model.

         13                 New York's noteworthy progress in the

         14  Food Stamp Program has drawn recognition from the

         15  USDA. We have received awards for the past three

         16  years for increased program efficiency and access.

         17  This year, USDA, awarded New York State a $9.8

         18  million performance bonus for payment accuracy

         19  improvements in the program. Recognizing that it was

         20  in large part the hard work of local districts that

         21  brought the State this recognition, we are in the

         22  process of allocating to them the bulk of these

         23  funds, including over $4 million to New York City,

         24  for investment towards further increasing enrollment

         25  and easing the application process. These additional
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          2  funds will make it easier for working families, and

          3  other under served populations, to participate in

          4  the program throughout the State.

          5                 As proud as we are of these

          6  successes, we will not rest while there is so much

          7  more to be done. While food stamp participation has

          8  grown significantly in New York since 2002, we have

          9  seen a leveling over the past two years, with

         10  enrollment holding at a plateau at about 1.8

         11  million, even though there are clearly more New

         12  Yorkers who are eligible. There are several reasons

         13  for this plateau and explanations as to why certain

         14  eligible groups decide not to participate. Research

         15  data show that, in New York, food stamp eligible

         16  households with earnings were not participating at

         17  the same rate as other eligible households and were

         18  also participating at a significantly lower rate

         19  than in many other states.

         20                 Why would families, eligible

         21  families, forego this benefit? First, because of

         22  higher average incomes in New York, working families

         23  are likely to get a smaller food stamp benefit since

         24  food stamp standards are set by the Federal

         25  government and are uniform nationwide. In
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          2  particular, working families between 100 and 130

          3  percent of the poverty level were the most likely to

          4  forego the benefits for which they are eligible,

          5  because of the relatively small monthly amount they

          6  would receive.

          7                 Second, the hurdles involved in

          8  obtaining this benefit are perceived by many working

          9  families as too high to make participation

         10  worthwhile. These hurdles or transaction costs,

         11  include an in- person application process that can

         12  mean taking unpaid time off from work; although HRA

         13  has done much to address this through its food stamp

         14  offices with extended hours. And third, studies have

         15  found that states like New York, with greater

         16  availability of publicly funded food pantries and

         17  more generous State funded tax credits for low-

         18  income households, were more likely to see lower

         19  participation among the working poor.

         20                 Given the significant number of

         21  working families in New York who are eligible for

         22  this work support but not accessing it, OTDA

         23  developed the targeted initiative I mentioned at the

         24  outset, the Working Families Food Stamp Initiative,

         25  to address these obstacles directly and thus ease
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          2  the enrollment process. Our challenge was to design

          3  a program that would overcome the belief among many

          4  working families that it was not worth their time

          5  and effort to enroll in the Food Stamp Program.

          6                 Governor Spitzer announced the

          7  Working Families Initiative in June, with the goal

          8  of enrolling an additional 100,000 low- income

          9  households, or approximately 215,000 individuals by

         10  the end of 2008. The initiative targets households

         11  with at least one adult member working 30 or more

         12  hours a week or two adults each working at least 20

         13  hours a week or earning the federal minimum wage

         14  equivalent for those hours.

         15                 Through a waiver recently approved by

         16  USDA that allows us to eliminate the need for a

         17  face- to- face application interview, households

         18  meeting the Working Families criteria will soon be

         19  able to access the Food Stamp Program without having

         20  to take time off from work or spend time waiting in

         21  a traditional social services office to apply. While

         22  we did not receive all of the relief we sought from

         23  the Federal government, we believe that the face-

         24  to- face interview is the critical piece for working

         25  families. Combined with existing waivers and other
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          2  program changes, we will roll out this initiative in

          3  2008 using a staggered pilot approach across the

          4  State, including New York City.

          5                 Other major program changes underway

          6  include eliminating the food stamp resource limit.

          7  Through the implementation of categorical food stamp

          8  eligibility connected to eligibility for services

          9  funded by the Temporary Assistance for Needy

         10  Families Program, we will encourage rather than

         11  discourage savings and asset accumulation by

         12  families who are often one emergency away from

         13  financial crisis.

         14                 We are also expanding our pilot

         15  program to eliminate the face- to- face interview at

         16  recertification under another USDA waiver. We are

         17  currently piloting telephone recertifications in 11

         18  districts across the State, including New York City

         19  in partnership with HRA, and we plan to implement

         20  this Statewide next year. We are developing

         21  electronic application filing, expanding the use of

         22  Interactive Voice Recognition Systems for

         23  recertification and providing outreach to eligible

         24  non- citizens, low English fluency and low literacy

         25  households. As demonstrated by this new, far-
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          2  reaching initiative, the State is committed to using

          3  every tool available to help New Yorkers succeed on

          4  their path to economic independence.

          5                 Another requirement as previously

          6  mentioned of our current Food Stamp Program is

          7  finger imaging, which also requires an in- person

          8  visit by an applicant. Our goal in this initiative

          9  is to remove requirements that potentially conflict

         10  with employment and deter working families from

         11  applying for food stamps. We are firmly committed to

         12  aggressive anti- fraud efforts in New York State's

         13  Food Stamp Program and I'm happy to say that our

         14  record high payment accuracy rates confirm that the

         15  integrity of our program is as strong as it has ever

         16  been. We do not, however, have evidence to suggest

         17  that a finger imaging requirement for working

         18  families contributes significantly to program

         19  integrity, particularly in light of all the other

         20  anti- fraud mechanisms we have in place. Only four

         21  states, as the Chairman mentioned, including New

         22  York continue to require finger imaging of food

         23  stamp applicants.

         24                 HRA has told us that it is fully

         25  confident it can meet our ambitious Working Families
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          2  Enrollment targets while maintaining a finger

          3  imaging requirement in New York City. The Food Stamp

          4  Program is a state- local partnership, and we have

          5  agreed to allow HRA to do so on a trial basis, under

          6  three conditions. First, it will take steps to make

          7  finger imaging as accessible and efficient as

          8  possible for applicants.

          9                 Second, it will cooperate with us in

         10  a six- month evaluation of the administrative and

         11  fraud prevention benefits of finger imaging. Third,

         12  and most important, it has committed to achieving

         13  New York City's proportional share, 62,000 net

         14  additional households, of the State's increased food

         15  stamp participation goal by the end of 2008. We will

         16  jointly with HRA monitor progress towards this goal

         17  over the next year.

         18                 We are well aware that program

         19  changes to increase access demand a parallel effort

         20  to get the word out to eligible households. We are

         21  proud to say that New York already conducts one of

         22  the most extensive food stamp outreach efforts in

         23  the country. Through the use of electronic and print

         24  media and a well- developed network of grass roots

         25  organizations, supported by significant help from
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          2  annual USDA media campaigns in New York City, we

          3  have been able to achieve steady progress on food

          4  stamp enrollment.

          5                 Now, OTDA and the local districts

          6  must intensify that effort to let low- income New

          7  Yorkers know that some important rules have changed,

          8  and it will be much easier to access food

          9  assistance. We will also be crafting new approaches

         10  to reach those who have not responded to a

         11  traditional outreach message. I have just taped a

         12  new food stamp public service announcement that will

         13  be playing on the radio in a 17- county area of the

         14  State over the holidays, our first PSA with a target

         15  audience of working families. I would like to play

         16  that for you.

         17                 (Playing public service

         18  announcement). This is New York State Commissioner

         19  David Hansell. During the holidays, many families

         20  are reminded how tough it can be to make ends meet,

         21  even when they are working hard. Any time of the

         22  year, food stamps can stretch a paycheck and help

         23  you serve healthy meals for your family. Everyday

         24  people get food stamps. For more information and to

         25  see if you qualify, call 1-800-342-3009. That's
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          2  1-800-342-3009. Happy Holidays from New York State

          3  to your family. (end of public service

          4  announcement).

          5                 I think they speed it up a little bit

          6  from when I recorded it. But as I say, it is

          7  important because it is the first PSA we have ever

          8  done directly to working families which I think is

          9  an important message. I want to emphasize that this

         10  cannot be done by the State along. Through the

         11  Working Families Initiative and other avenues, we

         12  are implementing changes that have been sought by

         13  many of our colleagues in the anti- hunger community

         14  for years and we will be looking for vital

         15  assistance from them in getting the word out about

         16  the initiative, in all communities and among all

         17  community- and faith- based organizations with an

         18  interest in fighting hunger. We all have a stake in

         19  the success of this effort, and it will take

         20  committed cooperation and collaboration to achieve

         21  our goals.

         22                 I'm pleased to report that in this

         23  spirit, Governor Spitzer has created a New York Food

         24  Policy Council, chaired by Pat Hooker, Commissioner

         25  of the Department of Agriculture and Markets. The
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          2  Council, of which I am member, is in the process of

          3  setting goals and priorities, and I can assure you

          4  that maximizing enrollment in food and nutrition

          5  assistance programs will be at the top of the list.

          6  I am confident that through the work of that

          7  Council, new avenues will open up and new resources

          8  will be provided to help us connect with low- income

          9  New Yorkers who could benefit from nutrition

         10  assistance.

         11                 As we move forward with our own

         12  efforts to get more people connected to the Food

         13  Stamp Program, Congress is debating the

         14  reauthorization of the program as part of the Farm

         15  Bill legislation. Earlier this year, I traveled to

         16  Washington with Commissioner Hooker and Commissioner

         17  Grannis of the State Department of Environmental

         18  Conservation, meeting with Senator Clinton and other

         19  members of the New York State delegation, to raise

         20  their awareness of New York's priorities for this

         21  critical legislation.

         22                 OTDA continues to advocate

         23  aggressively for New York's interests as the bill

         24  moves forward, interests that include increasing

         25  benefit levels and simplifying the program.

                                                            28

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  Increasing the benefit levels will help not only the

          3  neediest New Yorkers, but will enhance our efforts

          4  to encourage working families to use this work

          5  support. We urge you to join us in our advocacy as

          6  the legislation moves through Congress. Thank you

          7  again for this opportunity to testify. I wish

          8  everyone here a Happy Thanksgiving and I welcome

          9  your questions.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Thank you,

         11  David. David, I feel a sense of contradiction here.

         12  I really do appreciate your frankness in laying out

         13  what's working and what is not working. I think you

         14  should be commended for that. I very much appreciate

         15  the leadership of Governor Spitzer and starting a

         16  process of turning away from finger printing and

         17  looking at the fact that it has negative impact with

         18  questionable utility. So, I want to give you credit

         19  for that. But I am still struck at the same time and

         20  one of the first things that you are saying is we

         21  are one of four states in the entire country that

         22  continue finger printing food stamp applicants. I'm

         23  not following.

         24                 We are talking about food stamp

         25  applications by definition are people who are
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          2  struggling to some extent or another or certainly

          3  having some trouble making ends meet. Forty- six

          4  states including some of the most conservative

          5  states in the country do not believe it is necessary

          6  to finger print food stamp applicants. You say and I

          7  think this is very powerful on page four, we do not,

          8  however, have evidence to suggest that a finger

          9  imaging requirement for working families contribute

         10  significantly to program integrity particularly in

         11  light of all the other anti- fraud mechanisms we

         12  have in place.

         13                 I have to imagine that has occurred

         14  to the other 46 states that they believe they have

         15  got plenty of integrity in their program and they

         16  did not need to use finger printing. I just want to

         17  say at the outset despite the fact that I'm happy

         18  you are moving away from it in some areas, I don't

         19  know why we are one of four states left that still

         20  do it. Could you respond to that?

         21                 COMMISSIONER HANSELL: Yes. As I said

         22  in the testimony, our intent in this program was to

         23  remove any requirement that required an in- person

         24  visit by working families, the target for this

         25  initiative and the target for increased enrollment.
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          2  When we initially discussed this with New York City

          3  and HRA, HRA told us that they felt that finger

          4  imaging was a significant integrity measure. But

          5  more importantly, they told us that they felt that

          6  they could achieve, as I said, the enrollment target

          7  for the initiative while maintaining and actually

          8  expanding, enhancing the accessibility of finger

          9  imaging.

         10                 The Food Stamp Program in New York

         11  State is a state local partnership. We have a state

         12  supervised, but locally administered system. So HRA

         13  is responsible on the ground for the delivery of

         14  food stamp services and for enrollment of people

         15  into the Food Stamp Program in New York City. Our

         16  feeling was that because of HRA's strong feeling

         17  about this and New York City's strong feeling about

         18  this, we would give them the opportunity on a trial

         19  basis, as I said, to continue finger imaging.

         20                 The finger imaging requirement in New

         21  York City is subject to the conditions I laid out

         22  which include an evaluation of whether it in fact

         23  does have any anti- fraud or integrity value; making

         24  it as easy as possible for people, working families

         25  to do it, and most importantly, a commitment that
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          2  New York City will achieve its share of the

          3  ambitious, very ambitious target that the Governor

          4  has laid out for this initiative. We will be

          5  monitoring that over the next year. We will see if

          6  in fact that happens and we will have to make

          7  decisions accordingly as we see how this plays out.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: David, there

          9  are 62 counties in New York State, five of which are

         10  the five boroughs of New York City. There are 57

         11  other counties in the State. How many have asked for

         12  a similar arrangement to continue finger printing?

         13                 COMMISSIONER HANSELL: To date, none.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: No other

         15  counties?

         16                 COMMISSIONER HANSELL: That's correct.

         17  Under the Working Family Initiative, no other county

         18  has indicated that under the Working Family

         19  Initiative, it would like to continue a finger

         20  imaging requirement.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON HANSELL: You know, when

         22  you have 46 states that don't believe it and 57 of

         23  62 counties that don't believe in it, I think it is

         24  a powerful statement. Again, you are an expert on

         25  social services and I appreciate your work. I can't
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          2  believe that there aren't thousands and thousands of

          3  New Yorkers when told you have to be finger printed

          4  that don't feel like they are being treated as a

          5  second class citizen and don't feel like they are

          6  being doubted and questioned and that in fact in

          7  their time of need, they are being treated in a

          8  derogatory fashion. It would be one thing if this

          9  was the national standard. But I would like to

         10  believe that New York City and New York State are

         11  ahead of the nation and it seems like we are way

         12  behind in this case.

         13                 COMMISSIONER HANSELL: Is that a

         14  question?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Yes.

         16                 COMMISSIONER HANSELL: Well, there is

         17  no question, as I said in the testimony, we are way

         18  ahead of the nation in most aspects of the Food

         19  Stamp Program. There is no question about that. In

         20  fact, I mentioned about two or three weeks ago, I

         21  was at a national conference of chief executives of

         22  human service agencies around the country. The newly

         23  installed within a month, actually director of the

         24  Human Resources Program in Michigan, at the first

         25  meeting that we had came up to me and said that he

                                                            33

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  had heard about what New York State was doing in the

          3  area of food stamps, wanted to replicate it and

          4  asked if he could send some staff to New York, to

          5  Albany to see what we are doing so he could bring it

          6  back and see how Michigan could do it as well.

          7                 There is no question. We are ahead of

          8  the nation. In this particular area as I said, our

          9  program is different from that in most states. Very

         10  few states have a state supervised, locally

         11  administered program as we do in New York. For that

         12  reason, we feel it is very important that we do this

         13  in partnership with the districts. In this case, New

         14  York City, HRA has asked us to continue this under

         15  very strict, very strict conditions and criteria, we

         16  are allowing them to do that on a temporary basis.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: I appreciate

         18  that you put strict criteria on. I want to ask you

         19  about that. But here is what I'm saying. I'm asking

         20  you again as an expert. You already said on record,

         21  in writing, that it does not contribute

         22  significantly to program integrity. That would have

         23  been the number one argument. I would like to know,

         24  do you think it has a dampening effect? Do you

         25  believe based on your studies and your experience
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          2  that there are people in need who feel troubled, who

          3  feel like they are being treated badly, who feel

          4  like it might be something problematic for them to

          5  go and have to be finger printed?

          6                 COMMISSIONER HANSELL: I think that

          7  there is a lot of anecdotal evidence to that effect.

          8  I'm not sure that we have sort of systematic studies

          9  that indicate that, but there is anecdotal evidence

         10  certainly to that effect and that's why we are going

         11  to do the evaluation with HRA to see in fact if that

         12  bears out as the program is implemented in New York

         13  City. We are making a lot of other changes for

         14  working families which never existed before. So the

         15  whole context of the Food Stamp Program for working

         16  families will be different in the future. I don't

         17  think we really know and that's why we are going to

         18  study it.

         19                 HRA has the direct responsibility for

         20  food stamp delivery, food stamp enrollment in New

         21  York City. They are the experts on food stamps in

         22  New York City. That's why we feel we need to work

         23  with them. I'm sure you will explore with when

         24  Commissioner Doar's testifies why HRA feels that it

         25  can meet these targets while maintaining finger
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          2  imaging in place.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: I certainly

          4  will. I feel like after welfare reform in 1996, we

          5  saw in New York City during Mayor Giuliani's

          6  administration, many instances of the punitive

          7  approach to all people who needed benefits. I think

          8  that's one of the reasons why food stamp enrollment

          9  was so low for so many years. I think in some areas

         10  we have started to turn that around and not treat

         11  the person in need like they are the enemy. But in

         12  this instance, I feel like the ghost of Giuliani is

         13  still in the room and we are continuing a punitive

         14  approach in this City of all places, one of the most

         15  tolerant places on earth, we are telling poor people

         16  they need to be finger printed. Let's go into your

         17  pilot quickly. You have requirements. You are

         18  requiring the City to enroll 62,000 by the end of

         19  the pilot period. How long is the pilot period

         20  again?

         21                 COMMISSIONER HANSELL: Sixty- two

         22  thousand households --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: I'm sorry,

         24  62,000 households.

         25                 COMMISSIONER HANSELL: -- Which would
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          2  be more than twice that many people.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: My apologies.

          4  You are right, 62,000 households. How long is the

          5  pilot period?

          6                 COMMISSIONER HANSELL: By the end of

          7  2008.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: By the end of

          9  2008. Who will evaluate whether they have meet that

         10  goal or not?

         11                 COMMISSIONER HANSELL: We will.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Who will be

         13  paying for whatever equipment is necessary? Because

         14  again, finger printing cost money and it involves

         15  technology and staff. Who is paying for those costs?

         16                 COMMISSIONER HANSELL: Part of our

         17  agreement is with the City, is that whatever

         18  incremental cost there are will be borne by the

         19  City.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: So the City is

         21  going to pay more money to continue this practice

         22  that no where else is using, but that being said,

         23  what happens if they don't reach the 62,000

         24  households by the end of '08?

         25                 COMMISSIONER HANSELL: I hope they
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          2  will. If they don't, we will have to reevaluate.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Does that mean

          4  you would consider mandating that finger printing

          5  end if the goal was not meet? Particularly if it was

          6  not meet by a substantial margin?

          7                 COMMISSIONER HANSELL: We will have to

          8  look at all the options available then. I don't want

          9  to speculate because as I say, my hope is that they

         10  will make it and they have assured us that they

         11  will.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: You are not

         13  ruling out the possibility of mandating that finger

         14  printing would end?

         15                 COMMISSIONER HANSELL: No, we

         16  certainly wouldn't rule it out.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Okay. I just

         18  want to take one moment to talk to you about

         19  recertification and I know Council Member Gioia and

         20  some of my other colleagues certainly have

         21  questions. I understand and tell me if I got this

         22  right, the recertification process again has been

         23  unfortunately a place where a lot of progress then

         24  gets lost where we have people involved in the Food

         25  Stamp Program who need it and then the
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          2  recertification process is where they fall off. My

          3  understanding is under Federal law you have to

          4  recertify once every 12 months. If that correct?

          5                 COMMISSIONER HANSELL: No, less often

          6  than once every 12 months for families with income.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: I'm sorry. For

          8  families with income. For the State, you are

          9  choosing to recertify every six months, is that

         10  correct?

         11                 COMMISSIONER HANSELL: No, what we are

         12  doing through the Working Family Initiative again is

         13  we are encouraging districts, many districts

         14  including HRA currently do recertify every six

         15  months for families with income. Through the Working

         16  Family Initiatives, we are encouraging districts to

         17  extend their recertification periods to 12 months.

         18  We are not mandating it, but we are encouraging it.

         19  Our hope would be that the districts would move from

         20  a six month to a 12 month recertification for

         21  working families that qualify for this initiative.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: So the State of

         23  New York believes that the standard of once a year

         24  and not twice a year is better in terms of keeping

         25  people on food stamps who belong on food stamps?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER HANSELL: Yes, it is

          3  better in terms of continuity of participation and

          4  also again, even though we will be moving again by

          5  next year to a telephone recertification system so

          6  that recertification will no longer require an in-

          7  person visit, we still believe that a six month is

          8  obviously one additional hurdle for families than a

          9  12 month.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: So in a sense,

         11  the more frequently you have to recertify, the more

         12  barriers there are at least for some families, the

         13  more challenges there are.

         14                 COMMISSIONER HANSELL: Every

         15  recertification point is a point at which some

         16  families may drop off the program and we don't want

         17  to see that happen. There are, I should say, part of

         18  the reason and the context for this is that even

         19  within those 12 months, there are reporting

         20  requirements if families income changes to the point

         21  where they would no longer be eligible. They are

         22  still required to report. Given that, we don't feel

         23  that there is need for recertification for this

         24  population any more frequently than every 12 months.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: And the Urban
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          2  Justice Center report from September which

          3  particularly pointed to this problem, it sounds like

          4  you would concur that with some of their conclusions

          5  that this is a problem that needs to be addressed?

          6                 COMMISSIONER HANSELL: Yes, yes we do.

          7  Actually we thought that report, while we agree with

          8  certainly the intent of it, we thought a lot of it

          9  was based on outdated information. Almost everything

         10  in that report, we are already have steps in place

         11  to respond too.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Thank you. I

         13  would now like to turn over the questions to Council

         14  Member Gioia.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Thank you very

         16  much, Mr. Chair. Commissioner, thank you for your

         17  testimony which I really appreciated. I commend you

         18  on all the steps you are taking. I was very pleased,

         19  the way I think I heard it, which is that we are

         20  moving away from finger printing. I share Council

         21  Member DeBlasio's deep concern, bordering on outrage

         22  about finger printing, because finger printing is

         23  offensive. When you think about the only rationale

         24  for finger printing, there is some assumptions built

         25  in here. It is that poor people are less honest than
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          2  rich people; that people in New York are less honest

          3  than people in Ohio; and that people in Brooklyn and

          4  Queens are a lot more dishonest than people in West

          5  Chester and Rockland. That's really what we are

          6  hearing.

          7                 We need the finger printing because

          8  without it, folks in New York will commit crimes and

          9  commit fraud to rob public money. Not to feed their

         10  kids, but they are going to play some games here or

         11  they are going to commit crimes to gain the system.

         12  That is the underlying assumption we are hearing

         13  which is offensive. It comes I suspect really from

         14  this fallacy of the Giuliani era. It is this idea

         15  that the way to prove that you are fiscally prudent,

         16  that you are a fiscal conservative, is to be able to

         17  look people in the eye and say, I'm tough on the

         18  poor folks.

         19                 Yes, of course, we gave out food

         20  stamps. We had too. It is the law. But we made them

         21  crawl over glass to get it. When they got there,

         22  they had to put their finger print down to make sure

         23  they weren't robbing the system. I really truly

         24  commend you in that we have moved past that and we

         25  are moving past that. And food stamp enrollment is
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          2  up and the work you are doing is innovative. But it

          3  is, in my view, wrong. Just wrong to continue to

          4  finger print these folks. It would be great if HRA

          5  and New York City is able to hit their 62,000

          6  household goal. That's good.

          7                 But it would still be wrong to make

          8  the other people, the people who are going to get

          9  the food stamps submit to that type of

         10  embarrassment. I mean, the lady was in my office

         11  this week. She lived a middle- class life her entire

         12  life. She just lost her house. Her husband lost his

         13  job. She is back in the workforce for the first time

         14  since her kids were born, I guess, probably 30 years

         15  ago. We are helping her to try to get a host of

         16  government services including food stamps. She sat

         17  in my office and she cried.

         18                 As you were talking about finger

         19  printing, I'm imaging this woman now going down and

         20  truly like a criminal. We think about finger

         21  printing, think about all of us in this room how

         22  rarely you have been finger printed in your life. I

         23  can only think of one time I have ever been finger

         24  printed. It was to get my White House security

         25  clearance. It is the only time I have ever been
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          2  finger printed. That is a rare exception. I assume

          3  that would be a reason to get finger printed.

          4                 If you think about the image you have

          5  of finger printing in your mind, it is with a police

          6  officer standing over you. It is in the precinct

          7  house or in the District Attorney's office. That is

          8  when people are normally finger printed. And no

          9  other government, as I said, whether it be to get

         10  the $400 tax credit or to get 420 tax credit,

         11  whatever the tax credit the government gives out, we

         12  don't do that. I submit to you and I will try to put

         13  it in the form of question like Alex Trebek, what

         14  else will HRA have to prove in order for them to

         15  keep this finger printing requirement in New York

         16  City?

         17                 COMMISSIONER HANSELL: Well, the

         18  things we will be evaluating, as I said, most

         19  significantly, can they meet the enrollment target.

         20  Can they enroll 62,000 families which is roughly,

         21  130,000, 140,000 net additional people in the

         22  program by the end of 2008? That is the ultimate

         23  test. The thing we are really concerned about is

         24  enrollment. The cardinal thing they will have to

         25  establish if they can meet that enrollment target.
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          2  The second is we will be looking jointly with them

          3  at whether in fact the finger imaging requirement

          4  has any significant, anti- fraud or pro- integrity

          5  value. We don't from the data we looked at, we don't

          6  believe that it does. The City has told us that they

          7  do. We will be jointly looking at that.

          8                 The third thing, but really is the

          9  procedural thing that will get them hopefully to the

         10  enrollment and make this not a barrier is that they

         11  make finger imaging as simple, as easy, as

         12  accessible for people as possible so that it isn't a

         13  deterrent to working families enrolling in the

         14  program. But the ultimate test, the ultimate outcome

         15  is can they achieve the enrollment target?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Thank you.

         17  Again, I would submit it is more than just that. I

         18  want them to reach the enrollment target. But even

         19  for those who are willing to submit their

         20  fingerprints, I think it is an offense to them and

         21  indignity that they need not suffer for the arguably

         22  no public benefit. Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Thank you,

         24  Council Member. Now Council Member Gail Brewer.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very
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          2  much. I have a question that I should know the

          3  answer too which is that those who are on social

          4  security as you indicated automatically if you live

          5  alone are enrolled.

          6                 COMMISSIONER HANSELL: Those on SSI.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Correct. Just

          8  yesterday as an example, somebody came in from the

          9  Capital Hall which is a Riverside Community Center

         10  supportive housing. He said he moved in there

         11  recently. He was delighted to know that he just got

         12  $10 worth of food stamps. He didn't know he was

         13  eligible. He was very pleased. And the good news is,

         14  he wanted to know what else he was eligible for. We

         15  were able to send him over to the West Side Campaign

         16  Against Hunger which is the probably the model in

         17  the country because there are many people who help

         18  with benefits, food stamps, food, et cetera. My

         19  question is, usually though people who come in who

         20  are not enrolled don't want to because they say $10

         21  is too little. Where does the $10 come from and how

         22  does that get calculated state by state or is that

         23  just a national?

         24                 COMMISSIONER HANSELL: That's a very

         25  good question. $10 is too little. That is the
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          2  federally established minimum food stamp benefit. As

          3  part of the reauthorization of the Food Stamp

          4  Program, we have been advocating for an increase in

          5  that minimum amount. In fact, both the bill that

          6  passed the House and the bill that got stuck in the

          7  Senate, we still hope that it will increase the

          8  minimum food stamp benefit, but things are not

          9  looking so promising right now for Congress

         10  completing the reauthorization process this year. As

         11  you probably know, the Senate was not able to evoke

         12  closure on consideration of the bill, so it is

         13  currently stalled and it may be dead and there is a

         14  possibility that Congress will just continue the

         15  program through continue resolution which would

         16  leave that $10 minimum benefit in place which I

         17  completely agree with you. That has been the minimum

         18  level for decades.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Exactly.

         20                 COMMISSIONER HANSELL: And absolutely

         21  needs to be increased.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: The second

         23  issue is that I don't want to belabor the finger

         24  printing, but when I talk to my friends at the West

         25  Side Campaign Against Hunger, that and the $10 are
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          2  the reason that people don't sign up.

          3                 COMMISSIONER HANSELL: Yes.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Finally, the

          5  good news is what has improved and I think that is

          6  HRA, but I want to know if this is also you and I

          7  want to know if this is national or if we could even

          8  improve it is the issue of making an appointment as

          9  opposed to waiting all day if you have to go in. Is

         10  that something that you work on, HRA works on, is

         11  there anything that we can do to even improve that

         12  because it is not perfect, but it is better.

         13                 COMMISSIONER HANSELL: Yes, HRA

         14  deserves the credit for that. We don't. I think that

         15  goes with their model Food Stamp Office Program and

         16  you should certainly talk with Commissioner Doar

         17  about that.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: And then just

         19  finally, at your conference nationally, did you

         20  learn any new ideas technology wise (because I chair

         21  that Committee), that we could do in New York in

         22  terms of hunger and food stamp in general. Go ahead.

         23                 COMMISSIONER HANSELL: Yes. I should

         24  say in addition beyond food stamps, we are looking

         25  at systems that would support electronic application
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          2  for multiple benefits. We shouldn't stop the

          3  discussion with food stamps. New York City has taken

          4  a great step forward with Access NYC which enables

          5  people to screen for multiple benefits, but not

          6  actually to apply and that seems to us really to be

          7  the next frontier, the next place we need to go. We

          8  are looking at systems across the country. Florida

          9  has a system, Wisconsin has a system. We are looking

         10  at all the systems in other states to see which ones

         11  might make sense for us to replicate. I think in

         12  most respects, we are ahead of the rest of the

         13  country, but there are some states that have done

         14  very innovative things and we are by all means

         15  looking at them.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you, Mr.

         17  Chair.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Thank you,

         19  Council Member. Now Council Member Annabel Palma.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Thank you, Mr.

         21  Chair. Good afternoon, Commissioner. In regards to

         22  the finger imaging, is the finger imaging a one time

         23  deal for a family who is eligible for food stamps?

         24                 COMMISSIONER HANSELL: Yes, it is.

         25  They only do it at the application stage.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: So they don't

          3  have to do finger imaging again once they recertify?

          4                 COMMISSIONER HANSELL: No.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Besides HRA,

          6  which other agencies will be privy to looking over

          7  this information found from the finger imaging?

          8                 COMMISSIONER HANSELL: The only real

          9  reason we use finger imaging at all is to look for

         10  duplicate cases. The finger imaging, the data is not

         11  reported to any other government agency. I know that

         12  people sometimes worry. Could it go to immigration

         13  and other things like that. It is not shared with

         14  any other organization. It is used strictly for the

         15  purpose of identifying duplicate cases in the food

         16  stamp enrollment system.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: If a person

         18  doesn't have to go in for a face- to- face

         19  interview, do they still have to be finger imaged?

         20                 COMMISSIONER HANSELL: Under the plan

         21  that HRA proposes to use, yes, they would. They

         22  would still need to be finger imaged. They wouldn't

         23  have to come in for an in- person interview and our

         24  intent by next year is to have electronic

         25  application. They can apply on- line. They could do
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          2  their interview by telephone. But they would have to

          3  come in and visit one of many sites that HRA will

          4  offer for them to be finger imaged.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: HRA is the sole

          6  agency that will be providing the finger imaging on

          7  site?

          8                 COMMISSIONER HANSELL: Yes, we think

          9  that would be the case.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: All right.

         11  Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Thank you very

         13  much, Council Member. I just would like to say,

         14  Commissioner Hansell, we appreciate your testimony.

         15  We do look forward to following up with your on

         16  these issues broadly and obviously in particular on

         17  the pilot program here in New York City. I do

         18  appreciate again your leadership and the Governor's

         19  leadership in taking the steps you have so far to

         20  move us away from finger printing. I would submit

         21  that we need to go farther. But I very much

         22  appreciate that for the first time someone in

         23  executive branch in New York State is doing

         24  something about the problem. We appreciate that very

         25  much.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER HANSELL: Thank you very

          3  much and thank you for inviting me to testify.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: And now we

          5  would like to welcome Commissioner Doar of HRA and

          6  his staff. Welcome, Commissioner.

          7                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Chairman DeBlasio.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: We welcome your

          9  testimony.

         10                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: You are ready?

         11  Okay. I am pleased to be here today to discuss

         12  present accomplishments and upcoming initiatives at

         13  HRA in its food assistance programs. Joining me

         14  today is HRA Deputy Commissioner, Cecile Noel, who

         15  administers our Emergency Food Assistance Program

         16  and Ben Thomases, the City's Food Policy Coordinator

         17  who has worked so hard at addressing so many of the

         18  food issues facing our City. I am also glad to see

         19  that Commissioner Hansell of the State Office of

         20  Temporary and Disability Assistance was here today

         21  as we are key partners with the State in many of our

         22  efforts.

         23                 HRA's work on food assistance

         24  continues and expands on the successful strategies

         25  that are part of Mayor Bloomberg's goal of combating
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          2  poverty. Food assistance is an often important

          3  support for families as we help them strive for

          4  self- sufficiency through employment and work

          5  supports. Today, I would like to highlight our

          6  efforts on both food stamps as well as emergency

          7  food assistance that continue to improve and make a

          8  difference in the lives of so many New York City

          9  families.

         10                 Since 1983, the Emergency Food

         11  Assistance Program has played a critical role in

         12  supporting the efforts of the food assistance

         13  community here in New York City. EFAP coordinates

         14  the distribution of non- perishable commodities to

         15  more than 500 emergency food programs. There are 170

         16  member programs in Brooklyn; 81 in the Bronx; 118 in

         17  Manhattan; 129 in Queens; and 20 programs in Staten

         18  Island. Every year, these soup kitchens and food

         19  pantries provide nutritious food that helps low-

         20  income New Yorkers stretch their dollars.

         21                 The annual budget for the purchase of

         22  commodities is $7.6 million. A contract is

         23  maintained with the Food Bank for New York City to

         24  warehouse and distribute the commodities to EFAP

         25  members. EFAP provides an average of $300,000 in
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          2  funding for administrative grants, of which $100,000

          3  is City Council discretionary funds, to reimburse a

          4  portion of the non- food related costs that

          5  emergency food programs incur during the year.

          6                 In addition, for the third year in a

          7  row, EFAP is administering $500,000 in City Council

          8  funds for enhancement grants to buy refrigerators,

          9  freezers, shelving and other goods to allow

         10  expansion of the capacity of the emergency feeding

         11  programs. While we are cognizant of shortages around

         12  the City, you should know that when a program calls

         13  us about a specific need, EFAP has a process that

         14  ensures that we can respond to the reported

         15  shortage. Usually, a delivery can be arranged in a

         16  timely manner. To address the shortage in the long

         17  term, the Mayor wrote Washington urging that the

         18  Federal funding for the emergency feeding programs

         19  be increased along with an annual inflationary

         20  increase.

         21                 But we here in New York City can't

         22  wait for Federal support when pressing need is right

         23  in front of us. That is why, this morning Mr.

         24  Thomases and I announced Mayor Bloomberg's decision

         25  to dedicate a $1 million of the City's Food Stamp
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          2  bonus money to increase City funding for food for

          3  the Emergency Food Assistance Program. This one time

          4  allocation of funds will help food pantries and soup

          5  kitchens throughout the City restore their supplies

          6  despite uncertain Federal support and rising costs.

          7                 Over the past five years, EFAP has

          8  improved the nutritional quality of the food that is

          9  distributed. We provide low fat one percent milk

         10  instead of whole milk, offer whole grain

         11  commodities, have tuna in water, not in oil and

         12  supply fruits in light syrup that will be in natural

         13  fruit juice in the coming year. In addition, we are

         14  compliant with the Department of Health and Mental

         15  Hygiene's trans fat initiative, and have also

         16  increased the number of low sodium products. As part

         17  of the Food Policy Task Force, we are working to

         18  further improve on the nutritional quality of the

         19  EFAP commodities.

         20                 The Food Stamp and Nutrition Outreach

         21  Program specializes in educating the public about

         22  the Food Stamp Program and general nutrition. The

         23  HRA team of eight staff disseminates eligibility

         24  information and assists with the food stamp

         25  application process throughout the five boroughs of
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          2  the City. Their outreach efforts have proven so

          3  successful that we are expanding the number of

          4  staff. Outreach is regularly conducted at soup

          5  kitchens and food pantries, hospitals, Women Infants

          6  and Children Program sites, senior centers and

          7  public libraries.

          8                 Currently, the unit visits 65 sites

          9  monthly on a recurring basis. We also collaborate

         10  with community- based organizations and the City

         11  Council to provide training to constituents, staff,

         12  and other non- profit agencies. I am particularly

         13  proud of our staff's outreach efforts and with me

         14  here are Tara Walker and Millie Rodriguez from our

         15  Food Stamp and Nutrition Outreach Program who are

         16  instrumental in the success of one of our HRA

         17  pilots.

         18                 In fact, that pilot was recently

         19  awarded a National Hunger Champion Award by the

         20  United States Department of Agriculture, the federal

         21  agency responsible for overseeing the Food Stamp

         22  Program. This pilot, at two Emergency Food

         23  Assistance Program multi- service sites: The West

         24  Side Campaign Against Hunger in Manhattan, as

         25  Council Member Brewer mentioned, and St. John's
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          2  Bread and Life in Brooklyn, involved training

          3  program social service staff on the eligibility

          4  guidelines and the application process of the Food

          5  Stamp Program.

          6                 These programs were then linked to

          7  two local Food Stamp offices. This collaborative

          8  effort improved the quality of food stamp

          9  applications submitted and increased participation

         10  in the program. In fact, more than 70 percent of

         11  individuals screened through this program received

         12  food stamps. Based on the success of this pilot, HRA

         13  plans to expand this program. Before the end of this

         14  fiscal year, the staff will be taking applications

         15  in the field, with the help of laptops loaded with

         16  the food stamp application connected to HRA's

         17  paperless office system.

         18                 This leads me to the Food Stamp

         19  Program where I would like to start by mentioning

         20  some of our new initiatives and then provide you an

         21  update on some of our ongoing work. To reflect the

         22  importance of the Food Stamp Program and to ensure

         23  it receives the management attention it deserves, in

         24  July of this year, we created a unified management

         25  structure to manage the Food Stamp only offices and
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          2  to be the administrative unit for the Agency's Food

          3  Stamp policy and operations. The Food Stamp Program

          4  had previously been split apart between other

          5  offices and programs such as our employment and

          6  rental assistance programs. It did not have a single

          7  place of importance within our management structure.

          8                 This new Food Stamp division is

          9  headed by Jean Coyle, who is also here today and I

         10  want to point her out and who has over three decades

         11  of Food Stamp and client service experience. Ms.

         12  Coyle understands the needs of our workers and what

         13  it takes to make our offices work in a client-

         14  centered way. Our revised structure will ensure the

         15  program's present and future needs are raised

         16  directly to me and to my senior administrative

         17  staff.

         18                 One of our current priorities is to

         19  implement for New York City the State's Working

         20  Families Initiative. We are a pilot district for

         21  Working Families and strongly endorse the program's

         22  focus on providing food assistance to working New

         23  Yorkers. While many the details of the program are

         24  being worked out between HRA and the Office of

         25  Temporary and Disability Assistance, the program
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          2  designed will allow households in which one person

          3  is working at least 30 hours weekly to complete many

          4  elements of the application process without having

          5  to come to a food stamp office. Individuals will be

          6  able to submit the application and supporting

          7  documents through the mail or by fax and can then

          8  have the federally required interview over the

          9  phone, without coming to a Food Stamp office.

         10                 While Working Families applicants

         11  will not have to apply for food stamps benefits at

         12  the HRA office, they will be required to come in

         13  very briefly to be finger imaged. Finger imaging is

         14  a simple process which helps ensure the integrity of

         15  our overall Food Stamp Program and has been

         16  successful in avoiding the duplication of payments

         17  to the same recipient, whether due to intentional

         18  fraud, administrative errors, or other reasons.

         19                 In New York City, from 1998, when

         20  finger imaging was first implemented for non- cash

         21  assistance food stamp clients, through 2006 there

         22  were 11,000, more than 11,000 actions taken on cases

         23  for anomalies found through this practice. In

         24  calendar year 2006, 31 cases of fraud involving non-

         25  cash food stamp clients were detected by HRA through
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          2  imaging. But more important than detecting fraud and

          3  administrative errors, finger imaging is also an

          4  essential deterrent to potential fraud.

          5                 Prior to the implementation of the

          6  Automated Finger Imaging System in New York City,

          7  multiple investigations revealed that fraud was

          8  prevalent in the benefit programs, particularly

          9  involving multiple case openings and multiple

         10  identities. That problem has been virtually

         11  eliminated by finger imaging.

         12                 To ensure applicants can be imaged as

         13  conveniently and expeditiously as possible, as part

         14  of Working Families, we are expanding both the

         15  available locations and the times during the day

         16  when these applicants can be imaged. These

         17  enhancements, at minimal cost, include allowing an

         18  individual to come into any HRA Food Stamp Office in

         19  the City to be imaged. There is one office in each

         20  borough open on Saturday's and at least one office

         21  in the City is open until 7:00 p.m. each evening.

         22  Further, we will establish an off-hours finger

         23  imaging location by appointment at the agency's 250

         24  Church Street office in Manhattan.

         25                 When implemented early next year, the
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          2  Working Families process will be one way for

          3  applicants to complete the most time intensive

          4  portion of the Food Stamp application without coming

          5  to our office. I want to repeat that. The most time

          6  intensive portion of the Food Stamp application

          7  without coming to our office. But it is not the only

          8  method. Since the Council's last hearing devoted to

          9  this subject one year ago, HRA with the assistance

         10  of several community partners, has implemented a

         11  facilitated application process under a Federal

         12  grant.

         13                 This process, now in place in at

         14  least one participating soup kitchen or pantry in

         15  every borough, allows individuals to submit

         16  applications and all the federally required

         17  supporting material electronically prior to arrival

         18  at an HRA office. The result is more complete

         19  applications and less time spent at the Food Stamp

         20  office. More than 600 individuals have submitted

         21  applications through this process and the feedback

         22  from both applicants and the participating community

         23  organizations has been very positive. More than 80

         24  percent have been determined eligible.

         25                 In addition to the facilitated
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          2  application process, we are also making a major

          3  technological upgrade in our food stamp offices. All

          4  food stamp offices are implementing the paperless

          5  office system. This system allows for easier

          6  processing of food stamp applications and

          7  recertifications, electronic storage of case records

          8  and better management reports to ensure our offices

          9  are functioning efficiently. The system is already

         10  being used in nearly half our offices and under an

         11  aggressive roll out schedule will be in place at all

         12  offices by next fall. As part of the system's

         13  implementation, all food stamp staff who handle

         14  applicants and recipients will have their own

         15  computer to properly handle their cases. This

         16  investment in our Food Stamp offices benefits our

         17  staff as well as those we serve.

         18                 Another approach we are taking to the

         19  traditional food stamp office based interview is

         20  conducting telephone recertification interviews.

         21  While the agency has long conducted recertification

         22  by mail for nearly 200,000 food stamp recipients, we

         23  have not previously conducted large scale telephone

         24  recertification interviews. Starting this month,

         25  nearly all recipients in two food stamp offices, the
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          2  East End Center in Manhattan and the Fordham Center

          3  in the Bronx, will be able to have their traditional

          4  office based recertification interview conducted

          5  over the phone.

          6                 Individuals who chose this option

          7  will talk to an HRA worker from their home, office,

          8  or other convenient location. Any required documents

          9  can be mailed, faxed or dropped to the office.

         10  Telephone interviews will allow individuals to more

         11  easily comply with the federal recertification

         12  requirements and should also make the program more

         13  efficient.

         14                 The initiatives mentioned above are

         15  really towards one end; to ensure we are assisting

         16  those New Yorkers who need assistance to feed their

         17  families. Today, more than 1.1 million New Yorkers

         18  receive Food Stamp benefits, an increase of nearly

         19  40 percent since Mayor Bloomberg took office. In

         20  fact, over 300,000 more New Yorkers receive food

         21  stamps each month today than did in January 2002.

         22  While this growth alone shows a commitment to

         23  improving access to the Food Stamp program, the true

         24  impact of this Administration's efforts can be seen

         25  in the increase in those receiving food stamp
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          2  benefits alone, without also receiving cash

          3  assistance.

          4                 These programs, where the outreach

          5  and improvement efforts have been primarily focused,

          6  have resulted in a doubling of the non- cash

          7  assistance Food Stamp Program during the Bloomberg

          8  Administration in the past five and a half years.

          9  The portion of the Food Stamp Program serving

         10  individuals not receiving cash assistance or SSI, a

         11  group that includes working New Yorkers, has risen

         12  by nearly 150 percent. In the past year, from

         13  November 2006 to October 2007, the population of

         14  those receiving food stamps alone, without cash

         15  welfare or SSI, has increased nearly every month,

         16  growing to an increase of more than 60,000.

         17                 These substantial enrollment growths

         18  would not have been possible without the commitment

         19  to eliminate barriers and improve the Food Stamp

         20  Program. These improvements have been recognized by

         21  the United States Department of Agriculture. In the

         22  recently published food stamp participation figures,

         23  New York State's rate increased significantly,

         24  rising from 54 percent to a 61 percent participation

         25  figure. While we continue to believe these figures
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          2  do not include all the relevant factors, New York's

          3  substantial increased from 2004 to 2005, one of the

          4  highest growth rates in the country, clearly

          5  demonstrates the impact of the work of HRA.

          6                 Further, these statistics do not go

          7  beyond 2005 and so the substantial growth we have

          8  had since then will only be reflected in future

          9  participation figures. USDA also recently awarded

         10  New York State $10 million, of which the City

         11  received $4 million, for improvement in food stamp

         12  payment accuracy.

         13                 I also want to bring to your

         14  attention the recently released Household Food

         15  Security Report by USDA which showed that in 2006

         16  even though the national food insecurity rate

         17  increased slightly, the food insecurity rate for New

         18  York State was not only lower than the national rate

         19  of 11.3 percent, but declined slightly from ten to

         20  nine percent. This rate is also a significant

         21  decline from the State food insecurity rate of 11.9

         22  percent in 1998. Once again, this declining trend in

         23  the State's food insecurity rate clearly reflects

         24  New York City's efforts to enhance food and

         25  nutrition assistance programs.
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          2                 The progress on food stamps has come

          3  as a result of initiatives such as the shortened

          4  food stamp application, translating application and

          5  other materials into more languages, longer office

          6  hours, an automatic food stamp enrollment process

          7  for individuals in receipt of SSI and an automated

          8  approach to those who have obtained employment and

          9  are moving off cash assistance. We have continued to

         10  build upon these efforts for additional strategies

         11  we can use to ensure that our program is accessible

         12  to all eligible New Yorkers who want food

         13  assistance.

         14                 New opportunities to further simplify

         15  food assistance and make it more accessible to

         16  families may also present themselves as Congress is

         17  now debating the reauthorization of most food and

         18  nutrition programs including Food Stamps and the

         19  Emergency Food and Nutrition Program. I understand

         20  the City Council has submitted recommendations in

         21  this debate, many of which we are in agreement. Like

         22  the Council, we support increasing the minimum

         23  benefit, restoring benefits to legal immigrants

         24  simplifying the process, and increasing funding to

         25  The Emergency Food Assistance Program.
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          2                 However, we are very concerned about

          3  provisions that prohibit the use of non- government

          4  employees, including staff of non- profit

          5  organizations, to facilitate applications and we are

          6  concerned about possible limitations, placed on the

          7  use of finger imaging. However, I understand that

          8  final changes are not likely until next year so we

          9  will have time to do everything we can to influence

         10  the final outcome.

         11                 In closing, I would like to say that

         12  HRA is committed to ensuring that food assistance

         13  continues to be a vital, easy to access, economic

         14  support for low- income working New Yorkers.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Thank you,

         16  Commissioner. I have some things I want to raise to

         17  you, but I will just say at the outset, I do

         18  appreciate your work. I very much appreciate as well

         19  the work of your team and your outreach workers and

         20  all the folks, Mr. Thomases, Ms. Noel, all the

         21  people who are really working very, very hard. I do

         22  appreciate at the press conference earlier, you

         23  commended the day to day staff and I think that is

         24  very important. There are often times when

         25  Commissioners forget to do that enough and I'm glad
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          2  you did that. I appreciate that.

          3                 There is obviously some points in

          4  your testimony that I agree with very strongly and

          5  appreciate some of the changes you have made

          6  including focusing on the nutritional content in the

          7  food that we are giving out which I think is an

          8  important step. You know I respect you so I don't

          9  think you will be offended if I tell you I think

         10  there is a certain surreal quality to your testimony

         11  because your job is always, of course, to say the

         12  good news. I appreciate the good news this morning

         13  too about the additional $1 million.

         14                 I don't hear honestly recognition of

         15  the extent of the problem or the challenges ahead.

         16  Tell me if you disagree with this basic concept. I'm

         17  sure there is disagreement over whether it is 1.3

         18  million New Yorkers in New York City who live in

         19  food insecurity or if it is some other figure. But I

         20  think we would all agree it is a frighteningly large

         21  number of people in this City live in food

         22  insecurity. I think we all would agree that our

         23  economy doesn't look like it is about to get better.

         24  I'm not trying to be semantic when I say I feel like

         25  you are not acknowledging the extent of the problem.
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          2  I'm a little concerned as a matter of policy that

          3  you are not starting by saying we have a long way to

          4  go to fix the hunger problem.

          5                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Well, I look at

          6  trend lines. I look at progress over time. I believe

          7  that this City in the Bloomberg Administration has

          8  made significant progress. I think to describe the

          9  current situation without mentioning that, where we

         10  have been and where we are now in relation to where

         11  we have been would be a mistake. My view is that

         12  many of the initiatives that have been undertaken at

         13  HRA with the support of the State and sometimes on

         14  HRA's own before I got there, have been very

         15  successful. I think to portray a picture that that

         16  success has not taken place would just not be

         17  accurate.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Well, obviously

         19   --

         20                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Having said, I'm

         21  not in this business -- I didn't get in this

         22  business to -- I got in this business in order to

         23  help people in need. I am committed and HRA is

         24  committed to helping people in New York City who are

         25  in need. We will continue to do that. I don't
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          2  disagree that there are people in need in New York

          3  City. But I firmly believe we are making progress

          4  and I think we have got the right mix of approaches

          5  for continuing that progress going forward.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: No one said you

          7  weren't making progress and I think I made it

          8  abundantly clear that there is a lot of things you

          9  have done right. It just doesn't answer my point. We

         10  are going to have disagree on this. I can't believe

         11  we are having this discussion particularly right

         12  before Thanksgiving without acknowledging that there

         13  is a crisis that potentially is a growing crisis. I

         14  mean it is already huge. I just want to make the

         15  parallel to when the homelessness crisis in New York

         16  City was abundantly vivid and tragic and people saw

         17  it all the time because there were huge numbers of

         18  street homeless and everyone felt the problem. Then

         19  some things changed for the better, but as you know,

         20  the numbers haven't changed substantially.

         21                 While I think there is a parallel

         22  here that the hunger problem isn't seen and felt

         23  vividly in the day- to- day life of New York City,

         24  but it is a huge problem. Again, I sadly have to say

         25  that is probably about to grow because of the state
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          2  of the economy and certainly the Mayor's made clear

          3  rightfully so that our City budget is about to be

          4  affected by the economy. I'm simply saying to you,

          5  your job is defend the good work of the agency. I

          6  appreciate it. My job is provide oversight and I'm

          7  saying as a matter of oversight, I don't hear the

          8  Administration starting by saying there is a crisis.

          9  It could get worse. Yes, we have done a lot. There

         10  is a lot more to do.

         11                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Well, Chairman

         12  DeBlasio, this morning in response to a clear crisis

         13  in the food pantries around the City of New York

         14  caused by the rising cost of food and diminished

         15  purchasing power of dollars allocated for that

         16  program, the Mayor stepped up and did something. I'm

         17  a little perplexed on why you would say that.

         18  Because that is an action. It was response to an

         19  issue.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: That's an

         21  action and that is a very good action and very

         22  timely action. If anyone mistakes that for us being

         23  on the right path overall, that's a mistake. In

         24  other words, we should never feel like we have to

         25  present the world in black and white. I commend you
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          2  for adding the $1 million. I'm thrilled. I commend

          3  you for increasing nutrition. There is a lot of

          4  things I have commended even your predecessor for in

          5  this vein. But you know, Rome is still burning and

          6  we have to take it seriously here. Let me give you a

          7  statistic and tell me if you disagree with this.

          8                 In the fiscal 2006 budget, food

          9  assistance programs, HRA, over $17 million; in the

         10  fiscal '07 budget, just about $15 million (about $2

         11  million less). The 2008 adopted budget was $12

         12  million. That went up in the mode to almost $13 and

         13  now you have added this additional $1 million. But

         14  you are still about a $1 million off the pace of

         15  fiscal '07 and you are about $3 million off the pace

         16  of fiscal '06 in terms of emergency food assistance.

         17  I'm not belittling the additional $1 million today,

         18  I'm saying you want to talk trend lines, this would

         19  suggest the food situation and the hunger situation

         20  are getting better when they are not.

         21                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Well, I'm not

         22  going to get into the funding. But you don't measure

         23  the food situation by the amount of dollars

         24  invested. You measure the food situation by the

         25  outcomes that are happening in the situation. The
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          2  food insecurity numbers that USDA puts out, which

          3  New York City plays a large role in, showed

          4  improvements.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: They showed

          6  improvements, but the base number is still huge. In

          7  other words, I have never doubted your integrity and

          8  I don't think I need to restate that. I think that

          9  you have heard that enough times. I'm confused why

         10  we are talking about these percentages like it is

         11  good. To go from ten percent to 9.8 percent, the

         12  food insecurity rate for New York State '06, I'm

         13  happy it went from ten percent to 9.8 percent. I'm

         14  appalled it is at 9.8 percent. What I am trying to

         15  say to you is maybe it is just a reality check. Are

         16  you satisfied?

         17                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: No, of course, we

         18  are never satisfied. That's why one of the great

         19  things about, I think what we have described and

         20  what Cecile has contributed too and what HRA

         21  employees contributed is we are constantly changing.

         22  We are constantly reevaluating and reconsidering and

         23  repositioning ourselves and being willing to take on

         24  change. I think that should convey to you a lack of

         25  satisfaction. We will never be satisfied. We always
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          2  want to improve. But I have to say I think we are on

          3  the right course. I think you think we are right

          4  course too, you just want us to go faster.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Well, I want

          6  you to go faster and I want you to do some things

          7  differently. But I do think actually and I give the

          8  Mayor some credit with the anti- poverty commission

          9  for beginning by framing the problem and the extent

         10  of the problem. I don't agree with some of the

         11  action or lack of action since then. But I

         12  consistently said it was very important to even have

         13  the commission, to even acknowledge the problem, to

         14  treat it as a municipal responsibility. Sadly, you

         15  and I probably both agree there should be some other

         16  levels of government that were taking on that

         17  responsibility more. But that's not happening.

         18                 I feel like at this moment of the

         19  year, this is sort of the traditional time we take

         20  stock and I just feel like we are not saying to the

         21  average New Yorker, look we have got a really big

         22  problem here. For one thing, I think the average New

         23  Yorker needs to hear it to evaluate what we are all

         24  doing. Second, I think they need to hear it to

         25  encourage them to reach as deeply as they can in

                                                            74

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  terms of their own charity to say, hey, we have got

          3  a $1 million, that's great. Without saying, that's a

          4  step, but the problem is much greater and admitting

          5  bluntly that overall spending is not growing for

          6  emergency food programs. Yet, the need is greater

          7  than ever.

          8                 I think we should be honest about the

          9  extent of the problem. That doesn't mean a lot of

         10  things you are doing aren't right, it means more. It

         11  means it needs to be more of a priority. Because we

         12  are not talking about, you know, we are not talking

         13  about keeping the lawns nice in a park here and I

         14  care about that too. We are talking about hunger. It

         15  is on a whole different level than most other

         16  services and I just think we need to start by

         17  acknowledging the sheer magnitude of the problem

         18  even if you are doing some of the right things to

         19  answer it. Did you want to say something, Mr.

         20  Thomases?

         21                 MR. THOMASES: Yes. I will just say I

         22  think, I'm not sure that there is that much of a

         23  dispute here. That food insecurity is a very, that

         24  it is a significant problem in New York City is not

         25  something that the Bloomberg Administration --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: You wouldn't

          3  have your job if it weren't, right?

          4                 MR. THOMASES: Right. And just about a

          5  year ago today, the Mayor and the Speaker announced

          6  the creation of my position as part of the larger

          7  center for economic opportunity, the Mayor's anti-

          8  poverty initiative, in recognition that food support

          9  is part of a critical array of work supports that

         10  are needed as part of this larger initiative to

         11  respond to poverty. Certainly, in looking at the

         12  problem of poverty overall, the commission did

         13  explore meeting people's basic needs as we work with

         14  them on a path to self- sufficiency. Obviously, we

         15  are here trying to focus on a lot of the excellent

         16  work that the Bloomberg Administration has done

         17  overall and that HRA has done in particular in

         18  response to these problems. We recognize that, yes,

         19  9.8 percent as a Statewide figure for food

         20  insecurity, that reflects a significant problem that

         21  we are all committed to working very actively on.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: So you are New

         23  York City's leading expert on hunger. How many

         24  people are food insecure (in other words, hungry) on

         25  some regular basis in New York City? What is your
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          2  analysis of that number?

          3                 MR. THOMASES: I'll just say two quick

          4  things or three actually. I wouldn't consider myself

          5  to be New York City's leading expert on hunger. But

          6  I would say and I don't equate a food insecurity

          7  with hunger. You have to look very closely at the

          8  methodology of the USDA analysis what it means to be

          9  food insecure. It means that people are making very

         10  difficult and painful choices about allocation of

         11  resources between food and other necessities so

         12  forth and so on. Thirdly, I'll just say that when

         13  the USDA comes out with these reports for nationwide

         14  and statewide numbers, they don't come out with City

         15  numbers. They will provide us with raw data for our

         16  own analysis. The data is sort borderline as far as

         17  the sample size being big enough to come up with the

         18  Citywide figure. We do our best every year to come

         19  up with an estimate, but it takes time. We don't

         20  have an answer to that question at this time.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Well look, we

         22  disagree respectfully. Food insecurity, whatever

         23  nice definition you use, making difficult choices

         24  about whether to eat, I think that's hunger. I don't

         25  even think that's close. Again, I feel like and I'm
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          2  not going to belabor it and we are going to move on

          3  to other topics, I feel like we have a difference of

          4  definition. I don't want it to be a crisis. I would

          5  love it not to be a crisis just like I would love

          6  there not to be 40,000 people in our shelter system

          7  right now. But we should start by acknowledging what

          8  we are facing. It doesn't take away for a moment

          9  from what you guys have done, it just that we have

         10  got so much more to do.

         11                 If the amount of money we are

         12  spending on food assistance has decreased over the

         13  last three budgets, we should acknowledge it and it

         14  should be part of the public debate whether this

         15  shouldn't be a higher priority. I know we are going

         16  into a difficult budget time. But again, we make all

         17  sorts of choices in our $55 billion plus whatever it

         18  is today budget and we have got to decide where our

         19  priorities are. And if hunger is a persistent

         20  problem and I think a growing problem, it doesn't

         21  look to me like we are really making that the budget

         22  focus it needs to be. I'm not sure we agree on the

         23  definitions of the problem here. Why don't we move

         24  on?

         25                 On the question of finger printing,
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          2  you heard Commissioner Hansell's testimony and the

          3  State of New York clearly does not believe that

          4  finger printing is necessary to prevent fraud. In

          5  your own testimony Commissioner, you point out two

          6  very different situations. You talk about actions

          7  taken on cases where there is anomalies which, of

          8  course, all of us want to make sure there isn't

          9  redundancy, there isn't fraud. Anomalies is a very

         10  broad category and a category in which there are

         11  many ways for catching mistakes and duplication.

         12  When it comes to actual fraud, you talk about 31

         13  cases in calendar year '06 and you can tell me or

         14  maybe I can find your total number of people on food

         15  stamps today. I believe it is in your testimony.

         16                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: It is a 1.1

         17  million.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: One million

         19  one. Commissioner, you are a sane and experienced

         20  person, 31 cases of fraud out of 1.1 million people

         21  on food stamps does not suggest that we have a

         22  substantial fraud problem. You would say then, okay,

         23  we are deterring it through out finger printing. I

         24  would argue that you are ignoring many, many other

         25  changes that have happened in society that are
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          2  helping to deter fraud and I think finger printing

          3  does not play the role it might have in the past The

          4  State of New York thinks it isn't necessary to stop

          5  fraud. Your own numbers are shockingly small and I'm

          6  thrilled they are shockingly small. But 31 out of

          7  1.1 million is almost statistically impossible to

          8  notice.

          9                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: I believe it

         10  deters fraud and I believe it is an important

         11  measure. I believe it --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Don't you think

         13  it deters people -- it doesn't deter people also

         14  from signing up?

         15                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: I don't believe

         16  that either.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: You don't

         18  believe it deters people from signing up.

         19                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: I think that one

         20  of the things that I want to correct the record

         21  partially because I think it left an impression that

         22  wasn't correct. The finger imaging process is

         23  extremely simple and easy. It is not like what

         24  Councilman Gioia referred too. It is an inkless

         25  process. It doesn't involve or anything like what
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          2  you would see in a police precinct or anything like

          3  that. It is not like what was revealed as happening

          4  at the State DOH in a newspaper article fairly

          5  recently involving, I think, a healthcare workers.

          6  It is a simple one finger in. I was considering

          7  bringing the machine with me so that you could see

          8  how simple and easy. It takes two minutes. It is a

          9  quick verification of identity.

         10                 I think that the extent to which so

         11  many recipients of public benefits in the City of

         12  New York and around the State undergo that process

         13  seamingless every day is proof that it is not what

         14  you describe it as, as a deterrent to people

         15  applying benefits.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: You see no

         17  stigma, no negative association in the public mind

         18  with finger printing?

         19                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Not in the world

         20  we live in today, I do not.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: I couldn't

         22  disagree more with you.

         23                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: The other thing I

         24  need to correct is that the State's position is that

         25  finger imaging for working families applicants is
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          2  not negative to deter fraud. They are not sure that

          3  it is. But finger imaging for other applicants for

          4  public benefits including cash assistance and other

          5  food stamp applicants is still part of the process

          6  which the State is participant in.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: I feel like,

          8  respectfully, you are an island. You look at what's

          9  going on around the country. That doesn't mean

         10  anything to you?

         11                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: California and

         12  Texas are two of the other states that do finger

         13  imaging representing more than 20 percent of the

         14  national food stamp case load. It is not exactly

         15  like we are all alone. When you add California and

         16  Texas and I think Arizona is one of the other

         17  states, these are large states with large

         18  populations, difficult to manage, case loads with

         19  regard to the size in large metropolitan areas. I

         20  have to say I have been in this business since '95.

         21  I have seen the process work. I've watched it. I

         22  have been to the offices. I have talked to people. I

         23  do not believe it is what you are describing.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Illinois,

         25  Pennsylvania, Florida, there is plenty other big
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          2  states with bigger urban areas and problems that are

          3  not using it and don't see a need for it.

          4                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: It would be very

          5  interesting, Councilman to compare their program

          6  access rates and improvements and participation

          7  rates to ours and we have finger imaging.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Look, I'm

          9  thrilled that you are doing other things to increase

         10  sign up, that's great. You can't say --

         11                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: I need to say one

         12  other thing, Councilman. The fact that we have

         13  processes like finger imaging conveys to the general

         14  public something about our programs, an integrity, a

         15  willingness to be worried and concerned about

         16  potential fraud that allows them to feel comfortable

         17  about investments in these programs. One of the

         18  problems with welfare programs in the past was that

         19  there were characterized as mismanaged. As a result,

         20  they lost funding. I'm about trying to preserve that

         21  funding. I think that is an important factor that

         22  needs to be taken into account.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: You obviously

         24  from our first conversations has been a person who

         25  has a philosophy that is consistent. I appreciate
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          2  that about you. I would say that I think some of

          3  your assumptions, some of your world view is a

          4  little dated with all due respect, because I think

          5  that point you made just then, that would have been

          6  very relevant 10 or 15 years ago. I think the public

          7  attitude towards benefit programs and towards

          8  government in general has changed substantially in

          9  recent years. I think today of all days right before

         10  Thanksgiving, I would dare say there are many, many

         11  more New Yorkers concerned about people being hungry

         12  than whether 31 people committed fraud out of 1.1

         13  million. I would agree with you if we were talking

         14  ten years ago, I would have to honestly agreed with

         15  you that was a front and center concern.

         16                 My problem is if other states aren't

         17  doing it, if your own State Commissioner sat here

         18  and said that the State of New York does not believe

         19  it is necessary, even if you just want to talk about

         20  that one category, but obviously connotes a growing

         21  feeling in the State that it is not a good practice

         22  in general and you don't have a substantial fraud

         23  problem, why not go the other way. I don't doubt for

         24  a moment you have other ways of ensuring integrity

         25  in your process. Why not take something out of the
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          2  process that could have a deterrent effect?

          3                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Because I think

          4  this is effective. It is simple and it is easy and

          5  it works and it has been proven to work. We have a

          6  good partnership with the State in making it happen.

          7  I'm not going to and we've seen program access

          8  improvements over the past five years,

          9  notwithstanding the fact that we have had this

         10  requirement. I do not feel that this is the time to

         11  make that change. And the State has agreed and they

         12  view that the focus should be on the result, the

         13  outcome. In Commissioner Hansell's testimony this

         14  morning, he indicated that if we achieve program

         15  access improvements, then that will carry the day.

         16  We will face up to that and keep talking about it.

         17  It is an important tool in the process of receiving

         18  someone into a public benefit program and it has

         19  been successful.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Before I turn

         21  to Councilman Brewer, I will say first of all, if

         22  you believe there is several hundred thousand more

         23  people who are eligible and should be getting food

         24  stamps, then you would say to yourself, you know it

         25  is not just about making incremental improvements in
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          2  the same model we are in now, it is about pushing

          3  the envelope and looking for other things we can do

          4  that will fundamentally change the reality. Because

          5  several hundred thousand people is the size of many

          6  major American cities. Again, I think sometimes New

          7  York City, we lose track of scale. I would argue it

          8  is something you have to try to see what the effect

          9  would be.

         10                 I would also note that you deserve

         11  credit for having moved the agency in terms of

         12  evening hours, weekend hours and understanding

         13  that's part of reality to the extent we do require

         14  people to have to come in person, that we have to

         15  start paying attention to the reality of the work

         16  schedule. But I would say it is the same point over

         17  and over again, don't be too proud respectfully.

         18  Don't be too proud of one office in each borough.

         19  One office in one part of a borough could be just as

         20  difficult for someone as if it were in another City

         21  altogether. I just wish we would not spend quite so

         22  much time saying the glass is half full when we have

         23  problems we are facing at this point. Council Member

         24  Brewer.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very
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          2  much. This is my ignorance again, but when you say

          3  $1 million of the City's food stamp bonus money,

          4  that's a good amount of money, is there a lot more

          5  of that money?

          6                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Over the course of

          7  past two odd years, I would say, the City has been

          8  awarded its share or the State determined its share

          9  because of the efforts the City made of about $8

         10  million in food stamp bonus money. Four million

         11  dollars in the previous Administration came to the

         12  City and $4 million has come to the City only

         13  recently for a program access bonus that was awarded

         14  for our success last fiscal year in program access.

         15  I should point out that some of the money came no

         16  strings attached. In other words, you want it, spend

         17  it how you want. And other of the money, this most

         18  recent money came with a requirement that we submit

         19  a plan on what we are going to do with it and that

         20  it be directed to the Food Stamp Program. That's

         21  only recently been received and so we are evaluating

         22  that.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Maybe the

         24  Chair could ask at some point for a break down of

         25  all of the that. Maybe you do know it all, but I
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          2  don't think the rest of us --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: I don't pretend

          4  to know it all. I would love a break down of all

          5  that.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: All of that

          7  money would be helpful.

          8                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: I would be happy.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: If there was

         10  other no strings attached, what was available in the

         11  past and what could be available in the future --

         12                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Sure.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: -- And what we

         14  might do with it.

         15                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Sure.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: The other

         17  question I have is just in terms of the technology.

         18  I know for sure you mentioned that in half of your

         19  offices and by the end of 2008 it will be paperless

         20  and everyone will have their own computer. Is what

         21  you said?

         22                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: I think on behalf

         23  of the HRA employees, I need to say that the

         24  paperless office system will be in place.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: We have found it

          3  is hard to get them to be paperless.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I like paper.

          5  I'm a big paper person too.

          6                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: We've tried and we

          7  are continuing to try, but we are not there yet.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: The question

          9  is either between now and then and then, I've

         10  learned from my five and half years with DOE, in

         11  particular, I can get all the laptops possible for

         12  my students. But if they can't download the video

         13  shot in the neighborhood because there is not enough

         14  capacity, it doesn't work. My question is in

         15  addition to the computers and the scanners, what

         16  kind of upgrading is going on. Is it a whole network

         17  upgrading? Because obviously if you have all this

         18  hardware, you are really have to have the capacity.

         19                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: I think maybe we

         20  should come back and do a larger briefing on that

         21  for you, if you would like, as the Chair of the

         22  Technology Committee. There has been a tremendous

         23  desire to improve the network so that the various

         24  kinds of data and forms and documents can be imaged

         25  across the network easily. Yes, we have invested in
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          2  that. That is going forward. That is the big issue

          3  in food stamps which is to what extent can we using

          4  technology and training and people empower community

          5  based organizations to take and submit applications

          6  along with documentation. In theory, the more we are

          7  able to do that the more ambiguous we become and

          8  that's a good thing. But the technology has to be

          9  there.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Is this

         11  something that exist funding wise or will you be

         12  coming to the Council asking for more money for this

         13  by the end of 2008?

         14                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: I think we are

         15  always going to be asking for our budget in

         16  technology to maintain what we are doing. I can't

         17  say whether we have a plan for a big increase in the

         18  coming year on this issue. I will get back to you on

         19  that.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. On the

         21  paperless issue, but also just on-line applications

         22  and training and so on, obviously the West Side

         23  Campaign and St. Johns are the models, but in

         24  general are the non- profits that are trying to

         25  locally participate and I think have been very
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          2  helpful in signing people up, how do they fit into

          3  this scenario?

          4                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: I think they are

          5  very important partners. I want them to be as I said

          6  earlier today that the partnership in this community

          7  and this issue is extremely important. We have six

          8  in the ongoing pilot now and I think you would have

          9  to ask the various people that might testify later,

         10  but I think they are very pleased and satisfied with

         11  the process. The issue that is there I think we are

         12  up to about 600 applications.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Six hundred

         14  applications?

         15                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Received.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: From this

         17  pilot?

         18                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: From this pilot. I

         19  think we might have thought there might be more, but

         20  we have to keep working.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: How long has

         22  the pilot been in existence approximately?

         23                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: It is now more

         24  than a year. More than a year. But not all of that

         25  came on board all at once.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I understand

          3  that. When you do think Access NYC will be ready for

          4  the on- line sign up as to oppose to viewing so to

          5  speak? In other words, when will you actually be

          6  able to use it?

          7                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: I don't want to

          8  say until I check with DoITT and with my technology

          9  people.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         11                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: I will get back to

         12  you on that.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Appointments

         14  are terrific. It made a big difference. I was

         15  wondering obviously when we no longer have

         16  appointments, we are not there yet, but now that we

         17  still have appointments, we are leaving the finger

         18  imaging issue aside, how does that work in terms of

         19  people not having to wait et cetera?

         20                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: The great thing

         21  about working families is that by far the bulk of

         22  the time in a center is the time waiting for and

         23  then seeing a person face- to- face. The finger

         24  imaging takes five minutes. So the extent that all

         25  of that process can take place outside of the office
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          2  through submissions, technology or through the mail

          3  and then a telephone, we think we would be making --

          4  we think we are going to speed up the process

          5  significantly. That's why I think the State felt

          6  that there was a big gain from doing it that way

          7  while still being -- --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: We are still a

          9  little time away before all that is true. Right?

         10                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Yes. We have got

         11  some work to do at Working Families. I want to point

         12  out to you, the State mentioned and I mentioned that

         13  we are talking about people who meet a minimum

         14  amount of hours worked first. Thirty hours for an

         15  individual, 20 hours each for two couple family. It

         16  is not everybody. But that group of people to the

         17  extent that they can show that will next year be

         18  able to apply for and receive food stamps in an

         19  expedited fashion, we believe, through this process.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I know at the

         21  end of your testimony, you mentioned and I didn't

         22  understand this, federal legislation you hoped also

         23  involved employees of non- profit organizations. Can

         24  you explain that?

         25                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: This is a big
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          2  point, Council Member. You may not agree with me,

          3  but you should know that it is an issue. The current

          4  Farm Bill that's under discussion, at least one of

          5  them, has language in it that appears to be very

          6  prohibitive of the use of non- government employees

          7  to facilitate an application.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I'm with you

          9  on this one. We want the non- profits to

         10  participate.

         11                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: That's right we

         12  do. If that language is interpreted by the courts or

         13  by the Administration or whoever and it passes, to

         14  prohibit the ability to use these agents and helpers

         15  outside of government employees, we won't be able to

         16  do all this. It is in language. There are lots of

         17  advocacy. I spoke to the woman from Frack (phonetic)

         18  this morning. People are aware of it. It is a big

         19  issue that I think if not removed as I understand it

         20  is currently drafted, could hinder our ability to

         21  improve progress access.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: This is where

         23  Joel Berg and the Food Coordinators and all should

         24  be involved which is at Thanksgiving, Hanukkah,

         25  Christmas, you name the holiday in the next month or
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          2  so, one quazillion volunteers show up at these

          3  different food pantries and unfortunately some of

          4  them only come once. This is a little problem. But

          5  for those of us who go all the time, we should all

          6  have little postcards --

          7                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Yes, we should.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Do we have

          9  postcards? Am I going to see them tonight, tomorrow,

         10  Thursday? I've got 22 places to go on these three

         11  dates and I want to see postcards.

         12                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: I want to be clear

         13  about it. It has to do with the processing of food

         14  stamp applications, not just serving.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: No, I want to

         16  see postcards to my congress people telling them

         17  that all these issues. Are they ready? My postcards?

         18                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Oh, I don't make

         19  the postcards.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: No, but the

         21  food coordinator could make the postcards. Well, I'm

         22  saying we need these -- I'm not kidding. This is how

         23  you organize to get things changed.

         24                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Oh, I agree. This

         25  is a difficult time in Washington now and that's
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          2  another reason why the Mayor felt we had to make

          3  this investment in emergency food.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: But I'm really

          5  serious. Is that for the food coordinator or for

          6  Joel? I really believe that would be a great group

          7  of people to both feeding and people helping,

          8  supporting. Are you thinking about that sir? Do you

          9  know what I'm talking about?

         10                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Respond to the

         11  Council Member.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Yes, get him

         13  off the hook. Go ahead.

         14                 MR. THOMASES: Rephrase the question.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Sure. In the

         16  next few days and again in December many people

         17  participate in volunteering on hunger issues one way

         18  or the other and if there is legislation that we

         19  should be supporting in Congress, then we should all

         20  have postcards to send to our Senators and to our

         21  President supporting this legislation. Are the

         22  postcards going to be available?

         23                 MR. THOMASES: I think that something

         24  in terms of harnessing the power of activists in the

         25  community to influence Federal legislation, I think
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          2  it is something that we definitely look to our

          3  partners in the community to do. I'm happy to work

          4  with our partners to talk to them about that, but --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: With all due

          6  respect, I agree. But don't forget when we had

          7  environmental things, we all had postcards that came

          8  from City Hall. I'm just throwing this out. We

          9  signed a lot of postcards at that time. So I really

         10  think if we are serious about it, then we need to

         11  organize in working with your partners, but it is

         12  helpful to have some support from City Hall. There

         13  is more holidays coming up in December. When the

         14  Chair asked you on the finger imaging issue, I

         15  didn't understand. There is 31 cases of fraud that

         16  were found, but then there is 11,000 plus actions. I

         17  don't know what that would be.

         18                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Eleven thousand

         19  actions --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: What is an

         21  action?

         22                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: -- Are over the

         23  course of the whole implementation of the program in

         24  the City of New York.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Which is multiple

          3  years.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: So it is

          5  multiple years. The 31 is just --

          6                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: The more recent

          7  amount, yes.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Then finally,

          9  I would like to come see this machine that you

         10  talked about.

         11                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Sure.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Is that

         13  something that the non- profits can do also? Why

         14  does it have to be at Church Street or elsewhere?

         15                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Very, very good

         16  point. We believe that that could be done and we

         17  have told the State we would like to do that. We

         18  need their cooperation and assistance on that and

         19  they have indicated that sounds like something they

         20  might support and help us with. Because there are

         21  some operational issues that we have to work on

         22  together. You would need the not- for- profits to be

         23  willing to do it in the course of taking

         24  application. I would very much like to get their

         25  willingness to try it and see the extent to which it
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          2  causes a problem. I don't think it will, but it is

          3  definitely a possibility.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Have you done

          5  any focus groups? I mean this is just my

          6  interpretation of obviously the $10 issue is a major

          7  barrier.

          8                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Very big barrier.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: It is not your

         10  fault. We need our postcards to try to deal with

         11  that issue.

         12                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: That's the biggest

         13  issue. That's the biggest issue.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: We need our

         15  postcards. But in addition, according to many

         16  people, so is the finger imaging. So my question is,

         17  have you done any focus groups to that effect with

         18  some recipients or people who could potentially be

         19  recipients?

         20                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: No, I am not. I

         21  have not.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you, Mr.

         23  Chair.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Thank you,

         25  Council Member. Let me amplify a couple of your
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          2  points real quick. The focus group point is an

          3  excellent one. I think, Commissioner, we disagree in

          4  some of our assumptions of what poor people are

          5  facing and what their attitude may be towards finger

          6  imaging. You have been in the work much longer than

          7  I have and in a much deeper way. I think I have a

          8  lot of interaction with low- income people and

          9  organizations working with them over many, many

         10  years as well. We have a disagreement, but what we

         11  lack in common is the ultimate empirical evidence. I

         12  think, Council Member Brewer's point is a very good

         13  one. I would urge the City and the State to do an

         14  unbiased study of what the response of applicants

         15  are to the various barriers and what is and is not a

         16  problem and really analyze what that means.

         17                 I wrap that around to the point that

         18  the postcard point is another fine point that

         19  Council Member Brewer made. I don't doubt for a

         20  moment everyone in HRA wants to achieve the mission.

         21  I do think as a question of Mayoral priority, again,

         22  I fear we are not where we need to be. I don't

         23  entirely agree with the Mayor on congestion pricing,

         24  but I acknowledge that he has done a full board

         25  campaign to achieve it. Gail is right, figure out
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          2  how to do a postcard campaign whether they were the

          3  government or not, they figured out how to do it.

          4  Well, I think the hunger crisis in New York City is

          5  at least as important and we should recognize that I

          6  don't think it should be a second tier issue going

          7  forward.

          8                 You raise a concern and doesn't

          9  surprise me at all given your view of the world and

         10  I think it was an honest response about how the tax

         11  payer would respond to the work you do. I would like

         12  to note that I think the tax payers in New York

         13  State learned a long time ago and New York City

         14  learned a long time ago to be very, very frustrated

         15  with the imbalance of payments between New York City

         16  and New York State and the Federal government. You

         17  remember Senator Monahan's report year and year out,

         18  something that united all New Yorkers saying we are

         19  being cheated by Washington. You were being cheated

         20  again on the emergency food and the Farm Bill. We

         21  don't expect that to be solved over night.

         22                 But one of the things that has

         23  happened in these years and I think we have had some

         24  common ground is to say by getting people who

         25  deserve food stamps to successfully apply for food
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          2  stamps and stay on food stamps, we're getting an

          3  overwhelmingly federally funded benefit. Small City

          4  contribution obviously in terms of administration,

          5  but proportionally irrelevant shouldn't have to be

          6  this difficult to get our fair share, but it is one

          7  of the ways we get our fair share, at least a

          8  little.

          9                 I'm just going to argue to you that

         10  the tax payer would want to know that we went the

         11  extra mile to get everyone the benefit who deserved

         12  it because that's what is good for New York City

         13  financially. That money makes a big impact in our

         14  communities and obviously helps those families. I

         15  would argue that is a much bigger consideration than

         16  the prospect of fraud which obviously you have very

         17  much under control.

         18                 Let me ask you about also the cost of

         19  finger printing or finger imaging because the

         20  machines cost money; the staffing cost money, the

         21  training cost money. Have you quantified the total

         22  cost of the finger imaging part of the work you do?

         23                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: My understanding

         24  from my staff that it is about $800,000 City shared

         25  costs. That is what it is. It is a State contract
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          2  which we have a charge back to. I think we have

          3  tried to segregate just for the non cash food stamp

          4  population, but I think it is about $800,000 cost to

          5  us.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Again, I could

          7  do the math and say that we are paying more to

          8  prevent theoretical fraud than the actual fraud

          9  itself would cost and I would also say again the

         10  deterrent effect should be quantified. We should do

         11  the research. When you do the finger imaging, I just

         12  want to make sure I got my facts straight, it is the

         13  head of household only who has to be imaged? In

         14  other words, if you have multiple family members,

         15  only the head of household has to be finger imaged?

         16                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: I don't think so.

         17                 MR. THOMASES: It is all adults in the

         18  household.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Okay. Now that

         20  means, let me give you an example. If you have a

         21  married couple and one of their siblings happens to

         22  live in the household to and let's say a grandparent

         23  lives there. There is four adults. Everyone single

         24  one of them would have to be finger imaged?

         25                 MR. THOMASES: Yes.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Okay. Again, I

          3  think, I don't mean to be too dramatic, but if that

          4  means 80 year old people have to be finger imaged

          5  and that if not every member of the household, every

          6  adult has been finger imaged, then people who

          7  rightfully deserve food stamps can't get them, I

          8  think that begs the question right there. There is

          9  no provision made for someone being a certain age.

         10  There is no senior citizen or disability

         11  understanding.

         12                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: We have a hardship

         13  exemption related to people who reside home alone

         14  and SSI and age and disabled. Yes, there is an

         15  exemption.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: SSI and?

         17                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Age and disabled.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Does that mean

         19  is over --

         20                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: In that category.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: -- 65, they

         22  don't need to come in?

         23                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: If they are living

         24  by themselves.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: If they are a
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          2  couple with a sibling and a grandmother and the

          3  grandmother is over 80 and she is not on SSI, does

          4  she come in or not?

          5                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: No.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: We should

          7  acknowledge the unseen voice of Pat Smith there.

          8                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: First Deputy

          9  Commissioner of HRA.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Why does the

         11  grandmother not come in if he just said all adults

         12  in the household have to come in? Over 65 in any

         13  instance or only if you receive SSI. I would like to

         14  get this clear. So if you are under 65 and you are

         15  not disabled, whatever the number of adults, they

         16  all have to come in.

         17                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: I want to turn

         19  you real quickly, I just have a couple more things,

         20  to some of the other improvements and modernization

         21  that we need to really reach as many people as

         22  effectively as possible. I think you had some good

         23  progress you noted in your testimony. But let me

         24  just take this to a very basic level. I think there

         25  is a growing consensus about the use of the
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          2  telephone. That requires a couple of things. That

          3  requires there be enough telephones, that they be

          4  working, that people can actually staff the

          5  telephones and not be trying to deal with a walk- in

          6  over here and deal with a phone call over there

          7  simultaneously. What is your honest assessment of

          8  whether we have enough phones, we have enough staff

          9  and the staff can actually focus on the phone calls

         10  so we can really use telephones effectively?

         11                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: We are piloting

         12  the phone recertification process now and in that we

         13  have enough. When we go bigger, we are going to

         14  ensure that we have enough. I have sought additional

         15  staff for the food stamp offices and for the food

         16  stamp program generally and are in the process of

         17  hiring and training and getting them in place. The

         18  staffing allocations is something that I pay quite a

         19  lot of attention too, to ensure that we can absorb

         20  the demand. I will do everything I can to ensure

         21  that we have it paced it out carefully and get it

         22  right. We want to do it carefully because we

         23  certainly don't want to make an offer, not be ready,

         24  and then have a lot of people say, well that doesn't

         25  work. That's not useful. So that is our goal.
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          2                 The other thing that I would say is

          3  that this may surprise you, Chairman, but there are

          4  going to be people who even with the phone

          5  opportunity are still going to come in and want to

          6  see somebody face to face. You and I both know

          7  people like that.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Sure.

          9                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: That will be

         10  consistent.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: And some people

         12  will rightfully be worried if they don't see it

         13  actually happening with their own eyes, it won't

         14  happen.

         15                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Right, exactly.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DOAR: We want the whole

         17  spectrum covered. I'm assuming, look, we're going

         18  into a tough financial time. I am hopeful and

         19  perhaps you can report on this today that when it

         20  comes to sufficient staffing to process food stamp

         21  applications, which again, by definition bring the

         22  federal money into the City --

         23                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Yes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: -- That this is

         25  not going to be an area where you may have to cut
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          2  back personnel and by definition lose applicants for

          3  food stamps. Can you report on that?

          4                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: The current effort

          5  is to increase, not to decrease. I think that I

          6  mentioned to you that we have changed the management

          7  structure. Jean Coyle is going to fight for her

          8  people and fight for her program, directly with me.

          9  It is a high priority. It is a very key element in

         10  the array of work supports. I going to do what I can

         11  to protect it from not having sufficient staff. I

         12  intend to make sure that we do it. If we have a

         13  problem, it will come out in budget discussions or

         14  we will talk about it some other time.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: I know everyone

         16  is going to have to tighten their belt and you don't

         17  hear a lot of people in the City Council saying

         18  that's not reality. We understand the reality, but I

         19  would also say that when it comes to food, I think

         20  again, it is different than many other areas and

         21  endeavor and I would say when it comes to bringing

         22  in resources in the process that's also different. I

         23  hope this is treated as the special category it is

         24  and is not subjected to cuts. I would also say if I

         25  am hearing you correctly, as you use the telephone
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          2  system more consistently, you are trying to avoid

          3  that an individual worker has to staff a phone and

          4  deal with other responsibilities that might take

          5  them from that phone.

          6                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: I would have to

          7  check with Seth, but I think the way it goes it is

          8  dedicated to the phone. It is a call center type

          9  situation where actually that is their job.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Good.

         11                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Some people have

         12  phones. Some people have people or see people in

         13  person. Excuse me.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Very good. On

         15  recertification, what's your position on what is the

         16  right amount of time for recertifications meaning

         17  how many months?

         18                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: I have always been

         19  a supporter of longer recertification periods. And

         20  what we heard this morning was very interesting and

         21  encouraging to us and we would look very seriously

         22  at extending the recert period to one year.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Do you believe

         24  that this is also an area where we can do more with

         25  telephones to improve the process?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Yes, recert is

          3  where the telephone process could be simpler.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: I have sort of

          5  an universal question on all these areas, but let me

          6  just focus for a second on the on- line process.

          7  Your pilot, I think you are saying, so far has been

          8  impressive. Again, is this an area, are you going to

          9  have discrete staffing dealing with the on- line

         10  applications? It is going to be mixed in with other

         11  responsibilities? What is your goal on that?

         12                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Well, if you are

         13  talking about the expansion of the pilot, that's

         14  something we really have to evaluate now that the

         15  pilot has been in place for some time. We have to

         16  look at what kinds of and what would be the level of

         17  participation of other community based

         18  organizations. But it is something we are very

         19  pleased with. But it is very good now and it is

         20  solid. I think the evaluation by the John Hopkins

         21  which is not completed and I think we owe it to you

         22  and to the community to see what the evaluation

         23  says. However, I have to say, not withstanding the

         24  evaluation, this is an area I think has got great

         25  potential.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Let me conclude

          3  by asking this because I am pleased to hear you say

          4  that, but I always ask you to give us the most

          5  specific vision possible. I think that is what

          6  oversight is suppose to achieve and that is what New

          7  Yorkers need to understand is where exactly are you

          8  going as best you can say. If I'm reading and

          9  hearing you correctly on terms of paperless office,

         10  you intend that to be in place in all offices.

         11  Correct? By next fall?

         12                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Yes, that's the

         13  goal.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: In terms of the

         15  use of internet, you are awaiting for your

         16  evaluation. But do you have a larger goal or a

         17  larger plan for specifically implementing it more

         18  widely and if so, can you describe?

         19                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: No, I don't have a

         20  more specific goal or plan. Clearly, the Deputy

         21  Mayor for Health and Human Services and DoITT wants

         22  us to be more technologically adept in being able to

         23  both receive and evaluate applications for all kinds

         24  of public assistance. We are in engaged. We are very

         25  engaged in that global process. At the same time, we
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          2  are working with the pilots in the food stamp

          3  process. That has gone very well. I'm not going to

          4  wait around for Access New York, necessarily. I'm

          5  not being critical of Access New York, to do some

          6  things in food stamps.

          7                 I would like to do more of this, but

          8  all the facts aren't in completely and that's the

          9  direction I'm going. There is no question. But this

         10  business that is in this Farm Bill is serious. If

         11  the person taking the application working for a not-

         12  for- profit is not allowed by Federal law to do

         13  that, then I can't do it. It is a serious matter.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: What about,

         15  however, and we have talked about this before moving

         16  toward an end? Let's be blunt. A lot of what David

         17  Hansell talked about today opens the door for

         18  reconfiguring the process in various ways. What

         19  about going to an internet system that is not a

         20  facilitated system that is the individual --

         21                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: That's more part

         22  of the long- term goal of Access New York. We have

         23  talked about this before and --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: I'm say, we

         25  have talked about this before and I'm wondering
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          2  especially with the clock ticking down on the

          3  Administration, I would think this would be a

          4  tremendous legacy and this Administration is well

          5  suited to create this to leave New York City with an

          6  actual on- line application system because some of

          7  the things that have been problematic in the past,

          8  some of those burdens are being lessened by the

          9  State.

         10                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: I described a

         11  number of things that are taking place at HRA in the

         12  coming years that are ambitious, difficult and hard

         13  and we are committed to achieving them. That what

         14  you are describing is something I want to be careful

         15  about making a commitment too because there is a lot

         16  of moving parts involved.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: I respect that.

         18  In terms of the pilot per say, and I understand the

         19  federal situation may undermine what you are trying

         20  to do there, can you at least tell us when you

         21  expect to have a judgment of the pilot in terms, to

         22  the extent you can continue that path, where you

         23  want to go with it?

         24                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Seth Diamond tells

         25  me the formal evaluation which was part of the pilot
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          2  proposal that was funded by the federal government

          3  won't be completed until this summer. That is a

          4  little discouraging to me because I would like to

          5  know what things sooner because this is something I

          6  am interested in and would like to move forward on.

          7  I just think we have to have a place holder on that.

          8  But the formal application, the one we are committed

          9  to do as part of the Federal pilot, is not due to be

         10  completed until this summer.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: I am just going

         12  to conclude with two points. One on this, I am going

         13  to ask you to open your mind on the Internet

         14  question and I'm going to remind you put aside

         15  finger imaging for a moment, just act like that

         16  doesn't exist for one second, again you as an

         17  individual, your agency, this Administration, the

         18  way it has approached technology, Gail Brewer is

         19  watching, you can do something historic here in

         20  trying to be the pioneers for the actual direct sign

         21  up. I know there is good things about Access New

         22  York and there is question marks too.

         23                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: I got it.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: I'm saying, I

         25  wanted to speak clear with you. We are going to
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          2  raise it more and more with each passing day --

          3                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: That's fine.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: -- Because time

          5  is running out.

          6                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: I need to say, I

          7  can't put aside finger imaging. We may receive an

          8  application through the Internet, but we are going

          9  to ask to the extent that the State lets us ask, we

         10  are going to ask that they come in and be finger

         11  imaged.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: I would ask you

         13  to think about there is other ways to achieve your

         14  goal considering the option and benefit the Internet

         15  system would bring you. Whether there is other ways

         16  to achieve the information and the security and the

         17  integrity you are looking for, I would just ask you

         18  to examine that.

         19                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Sure.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Lastly, on

         21  telephone recertification, you have talked about

         22  where you are doing it now as a pilot.

         23                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Yes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Do you have an

         25  initial sense of how more broadly you would like to
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          2  expand that or are you simply waiting for the

          3  results of the pilot?

          4                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: No. To be honest,

          5  we would like if the pilot proves to be successful

          6  and we think it will be, we would like to get

          7  Citywide by middle of next year.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Say that into

          9  the microphone.

         10                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: July of next year.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: The

         12  Commissioner has a trick there. He turns away from

         13  the microphone when making pledges.

         14                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: You know, Chairman

         15  DeBlasio, I don't have tricks.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: It was a joke.

         17                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Okay.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: All right. The

         19  middle of next year, say it again.

         20                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: July of next year.

         21  We really think this has got potential and while we

         22  are piloting it now, it is a phase roll up. It won't

         23  be all accomplished, but our intention is to push

         24  for the middle of next year.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Every office by
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          2  the middle of next year. Is that what I'm hearing?

          3                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Every office, yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Every office?

          5                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Every food stamp

          6  office, yes.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Every food

          8  stamp office by the middle of next year, that's very

          9  good and we will certainly check in with you on that

         10  again. Thank you. We appreciate your testimony. We

         11  appreciate all your colleagues testimony and good

         12  work. Happy Thanksgiving to everyone at HRA. Now we

         13  would like to welcome Joel Berg of the New York City

         14  Coalition Against Hunger and Doreen Wahl of the West

         15  Side Campaign Against Hunger. We welcome you. Who

         16  would like to begin?

         17                 MR. BERG: If it is okay with you, Mr.

         18  Chairman, I have another --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: You had an

         20  extensive presentation earlier, Joel, so I would

         21  like you to focus and summarize with us.

         22                 MR. BERG: Well, first let me just

         23  respond to the two of the specific items raised at

         24  the hearing and that is the food security rate. As

         25  you know, Mr. Chairman, I work for USDA when they
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          2  developed that methodology and let's be clear, it

          3  has only existed since 1995 and the comparable data

          4  is only since 1997. The last USDA data cited today

          5  was for a three year period, '03 to '06 compared to

          6   '00 to '03; '04 to '06 or three year period.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: I think you

          8  should start over. We lost you already.

          9                 MR. BERG: Basically, the data when

         10  you compare ten percent to 9.8 percent, that's not

         11   '06 versus '05. That is a three year period ending

         12  in '06 compared to the previous three year period. I

         13  emphasize that USDA said that point two number was

         14  not statistically significant. I challenge any claim

         15  that the Federal government saying there is a

         16  decrease.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: And more so

         18  that effectively a ten percent rate of food

         19  insecurity in the richest country in the world is

         20  fundamentally troubling and that is what I was

         21  trying to say to the Commissioner. We can't claim

         22  victory when we are staring at ten percent hunger

         23  rate.

         24                 MR. BERG: That goes without saying.

         25  If you consider a period that included 9/11, is no
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          2  better than a period that included the best stock

          3  market in history, I would suggest as you did, we

          4  are going backwards. Just a few things about finger

          5  imaging because I want to point out if it wasn't

          6  cleared to my grave, grave regret, Governor reversed

          7  themselves in this announcement today. As you recall

          8  in the campaign, he was asked in debate whether he

          9  opposed finger imaging, finger printing for welfare

         10  recipients and he said, yes, he opposed it. He would

         11  remove it. Doing it just for food stamps is a lot

         12  less than for welfare and you don't need the

         13  legislature to do it.

         14                 Then he announced the Working

         15  Families initiative. He didn't do what we had

         16  suggested and remove it for everyone just for

         17  Working Families. Even so, the New York Post, they

         18  are opponents of his, mischaracterized it and

         19  claimed that he had eliminated it for everyone. He

         20  did not do that. We have seen that in other debates

         21  where he gets attacked for doing things he didn't

         22  quite do. But when he announced it in June, he did

         23  not say it was up to the counties to decide. He said

         24  I am using my powers, Governor ordered us which is

         25  in the power of the Governor. So to hear today sort
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          2  of as a surprise that in fact not only isn't he

          3  eliminating for everyone, he is allowing half the

          4  state and the most important half the state frankly

          5  to those of us who live in it, to still do this

          6  finger printing.

          7                 A few other statistics, you said we

          8  could do the math. Well, while I was sitting there,

          9  I did. It means one in 35,000 current recipients

         10  were found to be fraudulent. One in 35,000. It is

         11  not accurate to say there are no studies on

         12  discouragement. There was one study which showed, I

         13  forget the exact number, about five percent. That

         14  doesn't sound a lot, but that is about one in 20. To

         15  prevent one in 35,000 fraudulent people, we are

         16  discouraging one in 20 hungry people.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Can I stop you

         18  right there and say we would love to see the study

         19  that was done? I don't doubt for a moment that study

         20  is correct. I think the Commissioner was not

         21  acknowledging there might be some more evidence out

         22  there. But I would like to bring it up to him very

         23  formally. If you could get us that study, that would

         24  be very helpful.

         25                 MR. BERG: I previously have provided
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          2  that to others. And just on the cost basis --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Find in the

          4  archives then.

          5                 MR. BERG: I also did the math and

          6  $800,000 a year divided by 31 people is $25,000 per

          7  case of fraud detected and a program that gives out

          8  an average of $2,000 per household. We are spending

          9  $25,000 a year to prevent 31 people each from

         10  misusing $2,000 worth of money. For a business

         11  oriented government that doesn't seem to make a lot

         12  sense to me. As you pointed out, the real problem

         13  with finger imaging in addition to the stigma is it

         14  ties the City to this face- to- face interview. We

         15  do all the stuff electronic and then they are saying

         16  you still have to come back. Oh, it is a little,

         17  little visit. A little visit across town. That is

         18  the bad news.

         19                 I just want to reiterate very quickly

         20  that we did do our annual survey of pantries and

         21  kitchens. We found there was a 20 percent increase

         22  in people going to those agencies this year; 11

         23  percent increase last year and as I said earlier,

         24  when the economy goes bad, the economy gets a cold,

         25  low- income people get pneumonia. We do need the
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          2  Federal government to step up to the plate.

          3  Councilwoman Brewer, you will be glad to know that

          4  we have sent hundreds of letters to our senators

          5  about this. We held an event with Senator Schumer

          6  just a few weeks ago who committed to getting this

          7  in the Farm Bill. But the precise point is a handful

          8  of minority members in the U.S. Senate are

          9  filibustering a vote. The problem is our Senators

         10  are on board and unfortunately I don't get a vote in

         11  Kentucky. I don't get a vote in Mississippi.

         12  Although, those progressive states don't finger

         13  print like we do in New York City.

         14                 I do want to say a few words about

         15  the paperless office system from the non- profit

         16  perspective. It is going extraordinarily well. HRA

         17  has been extraordinarily helpful and really gone out

         18  of its way to make it work and so there is an

         19  extraordinary high rate of people who have applied

         20  through the project to get benefits. I would differ

         21  with the Commissioner on his view of what the

         22  pending Federal legislation would do. In my judgment

         23  and I think many other people looked at would not

         24  prohibit what we are doing. It says that only

         25  government employees can determine whether someone
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          2  gets food stamps. That is the case in our existing

          3  project. I do not believe it is any prohibition

          4  against application or facilitate application. If it

          5  was, we would be there in a heartbeat to focus on

          6  that.

          7                 I just want to point (oh, I didn't

          8  even bring it), but you saw it before. The needed

          9  pantries and kitchens is going up and I also have

         10  the written testimony I provided. The fact is that

         11  there is still 360,000 fewer people getting food

         12  stamps from 12 years ago today. That is about $500

         13  million in Federal funding. Also, we heard the

         14  Commissioner of New York State saying, New York

         15  State is about where the nation is. Unfortunately,

         16  that is not true. I didn't run it for the State. But

         17  for the City, basically peak levels nationwide

         18  participation is about equal to where it was at its

         19  peak in the mid '90's.

         20                 In New York City, we are still 23

         21  percent below peak participation. I just always

         22  return to the numbers. They do sort of speak for

         23  themselves. We have made progress. We love the extra

         24  $1 million. We love the on- line application

         25  project. We love the Working People's initiative,
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          2  but all the issues you raised -- it is amazing to be

          3  at a hearing where there is good cop/bad cop and I'm

          4  not necessarily the bad cop. But I share the outrage

          5  about the double standard for finger printing and I

          6  share some of your other concerns and I thank you

          7  again for your incredible leadership; Council Member

          8  Brewer's incredible leadership on these issues.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Can I just ask

         10  you one thing? I mean, I was not trying to

         11  personalize the situation with the Commissioner, but

         12  I was amazingly strike by the entire testimony,

         13  there is no acknowledgment of the extent of the

         14  crisis. Do you agree that this is a problem to begin

         15  with that the Administration tries to trumpet its

         16  achievement to the point of not acknowledging how

         17  profound the problem is?

         18                 MR. BERG: Poverty has increased in

         19  the last six years in New York City. Homelessness

         20  has increased in the last six years of New York

         21  City. We think the record is absolutely clear that

         22  hunger has increased in New York City over the last

         23  six years. So plans and pronouncements are great,

         24  but the reality is -- I would be less concerned

         25  about people coming here and having a different view
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          2  of the severity of the problem if the public policy

          3  prescriptions reflected that. My concern is as I

          4  think yours is if there is not a sense of urgency

          5  and say, okay, we will do the finger imaging. I

          6  mean, one of the things that struck me is they said

          7  we still have to meet this goal and if we meet this

          8  goal, then finger imaging isn't a problem.

          9                 Again, if we are talking about

         10  science and social science, that doesn't say how

         11  many more people would have gone on if you didn't

         12  have it. I'm concerned by attitudes, but I'm much

         13  more concerned by actions. I'm concerned that if

         14  these frankly extraordinarily conservative upstate

         15  counties and places with huge populations like

         16  Buffalo, not as huge as New York, don't find that

         17  they have to punish poor people for being poor by

         18  finger imaging them, New York City does all the same

         19  issues you guys raised, that's what concerns me.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: I agree with

         21  you. I would just finally say before we turn to Ms.

         22  Wahl that I would be very, very concerned if the

         23  300,000 or more people who don't have food stamps

         24  become sort of a permanent reality that somehow this

         25  Administration accepts as just sort of the cost of
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          2  doing business and there is going to be that many

          3  people who we just don't reach. I can't say that I

          4  think it is as simple as that because I appreciate

          5  there are some additional reforms happening.

          6                 But the resistant to changing the

          7  finger printing alone suggests that it is not an all

          8  out effort and that there is a certain resignation

          9  to accepting the level of people we cannot reach.

         10  Again, I think as a matter of setting a direction

         11  for the public to see would have appreciated a

         12  statement that said, it is urgent. It is crucial. It

         13  is a matter of Citywide importance that we reach the

         14  hundreds of thousands of people still left to reach.

         15  That's what I'm saying.

         16                 MR. BERG: I think frankly you still

         17  see a little ambivalence over whether food stamps or

         18  work supports that are good and should be promoted

         19  or whether they are welfare. There has been a

         20  dichotomy in the City for a long time. The previous

         21  Mayor was very clear on that matter. He thought they

         22  were welfare. No one else did. The Federal

         23  government didn't. Newt Gingrich treated it

         24  differently, but the Federal courts said it is

         25  different. I think this Administration has a little
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          2  more ambivalence and you see this reflected in

          3  policies that moving forward with three steps, but

          4  then some sort of frankly stumbling on some other

          5  steps.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Thank you, well

          7  said. Ms. Wahl.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Doreen, you

          9  have got to talk into the mic.

         10                 MS. WAHL: Sorry, sorry. I didn't

         11  prepare written testimony. This is very busy time of

         12  year. But I did bring down our annual report which

         13  shows that and has a graph on the back, the second

         14  page, which shows that the numbers of people coming

         15  for emergency food is increasing. It also gives you

         16  a write up of all that we do. We do a lot more than

         17  just emergency food and it gives you a pie chart at

         18  the end which gives you the characteristics of the

         19  7,448 households, unduplicated households, who come

         20  for emergency food. People can come once a month and

         21  they get three days worth of food.

         22                 The numbers of people have gone up.

         23  The amount of food that we are receiving from

         24  different sources is becoming less. And for the low-

         25  income people, the price of food is increasing
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          2  dramatically. A fourth factor is that funding for

          3  emergency food programs is shrinking. Just as the

          4  need is increasing, the funding and the Federal

          5  government support is shrinking. TEFAP, Temporary

          6  Emergency Food Assistance Program, the year after

          7  9/11, we at West Side Campaign Against Hunger

          8  received $400,000 worth of TEFAP food. We valued it

          9  at a $1.00 a pound. Now the invoices actually now

         10  come with a dollar figure on the bottom and so we

         11  have an exact dollar figure.

         12                 The year after that, that was our

         13  fiscal year '02, fiscal year '03 (we go from July to

         14  June), we received $300,000. Fiscal year '04,

         15  $200,000. Fiscal year '05, $100,000. Last year, we

         16  received only $60,000 worth of this TEFAP food. That

         17  is the dramatic shrinkage. And this year, we at

         18  about that $60,000 level. I'm sure that you have

         19  heard others say that it seems to be the last of the

         20  bonus food that was otherwise purchased from funds

         21  available through the previous Farm Bill.

         22                 At the same time, here in the City,

         23  welfare grants have not gone up. The living

         24  allowance of welfare grants has not increased since

         25  1990. Hopefully, the Governor will make some changes
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          2  there. The increase in food prices is incredible. It

          3  is incredible for us because we purchase some food

          4  as well as receiving donated product. But it is even

          5  more dramatic for low- income people.

          6                 We started purchasing liquid one

          7  percent milk last December. It was 89 cents a quart.

          8  It is now $1.17 a quart. One day recently, I was

          9  purchasing a big onion and it was $1.50. One onion

         10  was $1.50. I had occasion to go to the Seatown

         11  Supermarket on 138th Street because the $1.50 onion

         12  was on the West Side near 86th Street. I was up at

         13  the Seatown with Ellen Vallenger (phonetic) where we

         14  had some our customers helping a rabbi who was going

         15  to live on food stamps for one week. Our customers,

         16  Daisy Nuneurs (phonetic) and Chris Shay (phonetic)

         17  went with him to help guide him on how he could

         18  stretch his $21 to live on for the whole week. Well,

         19  I priced out an onion up there and it was $1.00. But

         20  even so, one onion, one decent onion is $1.00 to

         21  $1.50. You know, people living on welfare don't have

         22  that.

         23                 Two quick human interest stories

         24  because you have heard all the statistics and

         25  everything. Yesterday, I talked with customers.
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          2  There was one customer, a young man of about 35, he

          3  had been a construction worker. Eleven months ago,

          4  he had open heart surgery. He lives with his 15 year

          5  old son and they presently are living on welfare

          6  waiting for disability to be approved. There is 11

          7  months after his open heart surgery. He has a

          8  monthly income of $137.00 and I think he gets about

          9  $158 on food stamps. That is the reality for him.

         10                 Another lady, a family of four, she

         11  works in a factor. She has just been laid off. Her

         12  husband is on disability. She has two sons. One is

         13  at the University of Buffalo and the other is at

         14  home still. She can't make ends meet. She has no

         15  income right now. She has been laid off from the

         16  factor where she has been working. She now is not

         17  receiving welfare, not receiving food stamps yet. I

         18  believe that the husband has disability.

         19                 But these are the facts of people's

         20  lives. These are hard working people. These are

         21  people, welfare is in investment in people so that

         22  they can go on, come back and do other things. It

         23  shouldn't be this prejudicial attitude to people

         24  that criminalizes the poor.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Thank you. I
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          2  want to ask a quick question based on your annual

          3  report. Tell me the statement is too simple. You

          4  obviously had a huge increase after 9/11 in terms of

          5  need.

          6                 MS. WAHL: Yes.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: You can see it

          8  both in terms of numbers of households and number of

          9  meals. You then seem to have a couple of years where

         10  things got a little bit better and then spiked

         11  upward again which I am assuming is rising costs. I

         12  think you pointed out the onion and I think it is

         13  true of rents, I think it is true of food, I think

         14  it is true of a lot of things and radically rising

         15  costs in the last few years and the beginnings of a

         16  slowing economy. Would you agree that after 9/11,

         17  after the affects wore off a bit, thank God, that

         18  there was some improvement and now you are seeing a

         19  negative trend again?

         20                 MS. WAHL: We are definitely seeing a

         21  negative trend again. In about 2003, we made a very

         22  conscious decision to limit the number of people we

         23  saw each day to about 150 because we wanted to have

         24  more time in social service referral and counseling

         25  with people to work with people to get them health
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          2  insurance. To help get them tax returns where they

          3  could get their earned income tax credit, to assist

          4  them applying to food stamps, to do other things

          5  that would again be supportive of them.

          6                 Before that, we had not limited. We

          7  tried to take care of everybody, every day. Some

          8  days we were seeing 250 households and some days we

          9  were seeing 100. We consciously restricted. The

         10  impact that had was that for a period of time, we

         11  were turning some people away. But in the long run,

         12  the days have evened out. Then we have learned to

         13  take care of the days where we get the extras which

         14  are the usually the three days at the end of the

         15  month and Wednesday's, the day right after delivery.

         16  We have learned how not to turn people away by just

         17  extending, interviewing a little bit longer on those

         18  days.

         19                 Some of that dip would have been as a

         20  result of our doing that sort of curtailment. But

         21  the need is definitely increasing. We are now in our

         22  social service counseling and work with people, we

         23  are able now to have two tracks coming into the food

         24  pantry. One is a fast track where people have gained

         25  the things that they are entitled too and they are
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          2  coping. They are not in need of anymore referral or

          3  work in that way except a periodical one year check

          4  or as approximately a one year check. They are able

          5  to go straight into the pantry. The other group or

          6  if they are new customers or we are still working

          7  with them around referrals, they see the social

          8  service staff.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Okay.

         10                 MS. WAHL: We have just instituted

         11  that. Yesterday, we saw 250 households. We are back

         12  up.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: I appreciate

         14  your point that you are seeing a greater need.

         15  Obviously, very much appreciate the work you are

         16  doing and Joel, obviously, we always appreciate and

         17  rely upon the work you are doing. I just want to end

         18  this panel with the point Joel made, which is

         19  growing homelessness, growing hunger, growing

         20  poverty, I don't think there is a really good

         21  explanation out there of why. I think the Mayor's

         22  commission looked at some of the issues. I think

         23  clearly rising costs, rising costs of housing most

         24  profoundly is a big part of it. I imagine a growing

         25  population is a part of it.
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          2                 I think it is incumbent upon all of

          3  us to really get this to the front pages and make it

          4  the debate in the City. Those three pieces rising

          5  simultaneously are profoundly troubling. But I think

          6  it is not to despite your best efforts, it is still

          7  not front and center in the public debate. I meant

          8  congestion pricing earlier. That is getting a lot

          9  more attention than those three trends together

         10  occurring which affect hundreds of thousands of

         11  people. Hopefully, with our work today, we are going

         12  to start to change that.

         13                 MS. WAHL: I have just one other thing

         14  if I can.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Please.

         16                 MS. WAHL: We are a large food pantry.

         17  We are probably about the largest food pantry per

         18  say in the City and have grants from the New York

         19  State Health Department and some foundations. I have

         20  a food budget. Right now, at this point, I am

         21  overspent on my food budget by $20,000. Because at

         22  the moment, I just don't feel I want to cut back. I

         23  want to have food on the shelves because it is this

         24  time of year. The majority, the vast majority of

         25  emergency food programs around the City are small
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          2  programs that don't have a food budget and their

          3  shelves are bare. It is a very cruel situation.

          4                 MR. BERG: A very quick point for me.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Then Council

          6  Member Brewer has a question.

          7                 MR. BERG: On page 13 of my written

          8  testimony shows a chart of number of people live in

          9  welfare continue to increase while the number of

         10  people in poverty continues to increase. In the

         11  1990's and when President for which you and I worked

         12  was in and our welfare went down while poverty went

         13  down, that's not been the case in the last six years

         14  in the nation or the State of New York City and it

         15  doesn't take a rocket scientist to just hum, maybe

         16  there is a connection. If you are cutting off

         17  significant public benefits from people and there is

         18  more poverty, maybe there is a connection. I know

         19  that is a radical suggestion that many dismiss, but

         20  logical might think it has a connection.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Thank you.

         22  Council Member Brewer.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: First of all,

         24  Doreen, while I want to thank you for the Emergency

         25  Food Assistance Program honor that you received and
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          2  it was certainly mentioned by the Commissioner in

          3  his testimony, you and St. John's Bread and Life in

          4  Brooklyn were the number one. You got an award, I

          5  guess, from the U.S. Department of Agriculture, the

          6  Hunger Champion Award. I didn't know if you knew

          7  that.

          8                 MS. WAHL: I didn't know that.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Oh, you did

         10  get that award. That's what he said.

         11                 MS. WAHL: I didn't know that.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Good. Well,

         13  anyway I just wanted to let you know

         14  congratulations.

         15                 MS. WAHL: Thank you.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Second, you

         17  made your point, I think, by illustration of and you

         18  have told me this over and over again, the numbers

         19  of working people and I just want to know if you

         20  could just add to that. It is so much a part of what

         21  I think people don't understand is one of the

         22  highest increases in coming to the pantry are people

         23  who are working.

         24                 MS. WAHL: Yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Even
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          2  anecdotally is fine.

          3                 MS. WAHL: The 29 percent in our

          4  fiscal year 2007 are working people. There is

          5  enormous pride. The people of the nonworking

          6  population that comes to us want to be working.

          7  There is an interest in finding jobs and supporting

          8  themselves. The sorts of jobs that they are in are

          9  primarily low- paying jobs, home health aides. It is

         10  a constant amongst many, many women. They are not

         11  the high paying jobs, but people are working.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. Then

         13  second we made assumption or at least I did on terms

         14  of barriers to food stamps; one being finger imaging

         15  and the other being the low grant of $10. I get the

         16  $10 issue all the time. People come into our office

         17  that this is too low, why should I apply. I'm just

         18  wondering if you agree that those are the two main

         19  barriers or are there others? Joel?

         20                 MR. BERG: I would say those are the

         21  two main barriers. In general hassle factor of

         22  going, we still hear it takes one or two days

         23  sometimes for people. The pilot projects are working

         24  well and we are proud of those. But we don't a few

         25  thousand people in a pilot project to distract from
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          2  Citywide processes. The way I put it is the hassle

          3  to pay off ratio. Let's say it is no more difficult

          4  to apply for food stamps today than 15 years ago.

          5  But if the average person 15 years ago was also

          6  getting a large than AFDC, cash grant, you were put

          7  up with a little more of the hassle to get a little

          8  more benefit. Now that the benefit is so far less

          9  since many people are just getting food stamps, if

         10  the hassle is still the same, they are not going to

         11  come back two or three days. I think we need to

         12  raise the benefit and reduce the hassle.

         13                 MS. WAHL: Forty-eight percent of our

         14  households are getting food stamps. That leaves 52

         15  percent without, maybe 10 percent of that 52 percent

         16  are not eligible. It is still a big 42 percent that

         17  could be receiving food stamps and are not. We have

         18  a great relationship with HRA where we are able now

         19  to schedule appointments.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I mentioned

         21  that to the Commissioner and thank you for that.

         22                 MS. WAHL: Right. Right. That works

         23  well for people and they are abiding by that. If you

         24  got a 10:00 appointment for Monday, they see you at

         25  10:00 and they are getting their food stamps.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Commissioner,

          3  you should come to 86th Street and see this

          4  particular food pantry. It is the best in the world.

          5  Mr. Chair, you have got to come.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: I will do as

          7  you say.

          8                 MS. WAHL: And it functions as a

          9  customer co-operative. It is the low-income

         10  customers who are making it run and they are helping

         11  people.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Excellent.

         13  Thank you very much for your good work. We really do

         14  appreciate it. Thank you. Our final panel will be

         15  Aine Duggan of the Food Bank for New York City and

         16  Rebecca Widom of the Urban Justice Center. Aine, I

         17  have now been informed that I finally got your first

         18  name right only to mispronounce your last name. But

         19  if you give me a few more years, I'll combine both

         20  effectively. Who would like to start?

         21                 MS. WIDOM: Thanks for having me. Good

         22  afternoon. My name is Rebecca Widom. I'm the

         23  Director of Research with the Homelessness Outreach

         24  and Prevention Project at the Urban Justice Center.

         25  The Urban Justice Center serves New York City most
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          2  vulnerable residents through a combination of direct

          3  service, systematic advocacy and community

          4  education. The mission of the Homelessness Outreach

          5  and Prevention Project is to advocate for economic

          6  justice for no- and low- income New Yorkers. Using

          7  legal framework, we conduct service litigation

          8  research and policy advocacy to preserve and expand

          9  access to public benefit programs and ensure

         10  government accountability.

         11                 I've been thrilled to hear the

         12  discussion about food stamps. As I'm sure you know,

         13  the Food Stamp Program is New York City's and the

         14  nation's first line of defense against hunger. The

         15  Food Stamp Program puts food on the table for low-

         16  income New Yorkers and federal aid in the local

         17  economy. Our study of the economy --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: I'm sorry to

         19  interrupt. I'm going to really urge you to summarize

         20  testimony because it is late in the day and we

         21  certainly know the basic facts. We're all good about

         22  that. But tell us what your particular view is on

         23  the issues that you want to focus on.

         24                 MS. WIDOM: All right, I will. So, one

         25  thing I wanted to raise off of the great work at
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          2  WISKA (phonetic) and the commentary on easing the

          3  appointment process at food stamp centers, we're

          4  thrilled that that program has been expanded to

          5  WISKA and just wanted to clarify that Citywide not

          6  every office has a specific appointment time. And

          7  that we found in our study from a year ago that that

          8  really did help people with the enrollment process

          9  to not have to wait as long, but there could be more

         10  work there.

         11                 Also, I was pleased to hear the

         12  emphasis on expanding the recertification time

         13  period, because again really when cases close at

         14  recertification, it is very seldom due to specific

         15  evidence of ineligibility and more often due to the

         16  hassles that a number of people have referred to

         17  here today - having to go into the office, having to

         18  submit and resubmit the same documents over and

         19  over.

         20                 So, I'm just going to end with things

         21  which I am pleased that you have already raised. So

         22  expanded access to telephone interviews. I just want

         23  to quote one of the clients we interviewed for our

         24  study who said "I wish they do the same thing as

         25  with Medicaid. They just do it through the mail." I
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          2  agree with her. We look forward to seeing the phone

          3  recertification expanded across the City.

          4                 Reducing unnecessary verification

          5  requirements, we are optimistic that POS (phonetic)

          6  could help with that, but continued oversight will

          7  be really crucial.

          8                 Less frequent recertification.

          9  Again, 12 months versus six could mean cases closing

         10  half as frequently in a given year.

         11                 Finally, we think given this cost

         12  benefit analysis that we know clients make around

         13  both application and recertification that it is

         14  worth considering offsetting the direct and hidden

         15  costs of participating in the Food Stamp Program.

         16  New York City is using incentive programs in an

         17  array of areas and we might try a flat $10 and $20

         18  to encourage low-income New Yorkers to complete the

         19  process, an often arduous and uncertain enrollment

         20  and recertification process. Summarized. Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: You summarized

         22  well.

         23                 MS. WIDOM: Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: We appreciate

         25  it. Anytime you say, well you don't have to raise
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          2  some of the issues because we raised them already,

          3  that's music to my ears.

          4                 MS. WIDOM: Oh, good.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: But we raise

          6  the issues larger because of the good direction we

          7  get from advocates. We thank you. Aine.

          8                 MS. DUGGAN: Well, I was going to read

          9  the report cover to cover. I'll spare you that pain.

         10  Actually much of what is in the report has already

         11  been raised, so I am just going sort of run through

         12  a couple of quick points. I think largely to explain

         13  what is driving the increase need in the City or

         14  what we believe is driving the increased need in the

         15  City.

         16                 Firstly, I would like to say that

         17  Food Bank and Food Change together are very

         18  appreciative obviously of the Council's leadership

         19  on the hunger issue. Our report shows that there are

         20  1.3 million people using soup kitchens and food

         21  pantries which is a 24 percent increase in three

         22  years. Now we can debate food and security numbers

         23  and we can debate other numbers, but the reality is,

         24  those are the numbers of people that we are seeing

         25  coming to the door of soup kitchens and food
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          2  pantries. They may not necessarily be described as

          3  food insecure. They may not even necessarily be

          4  described as being below poverty. But that doesn't

          5  mean that they are not in need because nobody comes

          6  to a soup kitchen unless they really have too.

          7                 What we have seen is that it is

          8  really high rent and the high cost of living that is

          9  driving people to the door. I mean we have 79

         10  percent of our population are living in private and

         11  public rent accommodation. The average that they are

         12  spending on their monthly rent is 59 percent of

         13  their income. Seven percent of the population own

         14  their own homes and astonishingly, they pay an

         15  average of 68 percent on their monthly mortgages.

         16  You can do the math. There is not a lot left over

         17  really to spend on food and other basic costs. I

         18  think affordable housing or the lack thereof is the

         19  real driving factor.

         20                 The other issue we looked at was

         21  different levels of poverty and who is coming to

         22  soup kitchens and food pantries at different levels

         23  of poverty. At 125 percent, 96 percent of the City's

         24  population are turning to emergency food. But at 200

         25  percent of Federal poverty, 64 percent of the City's
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          2  population are turning to emergency food. For a

          3  family of three, you are looking at a salary

          4  somewhere in the low 30's. Typically, these are not

          5  families that are captured by food insecurity or by

          6  poverty statistics. But yet, over 60 percent of them

          7  are turning to emergency food. I think those numbers

          8  begin to describe this sort of burning question that

          9  is out there what's driving the need.

         10                 Obviously, our biggest concern is

         11  that this increased need is happening at a time when

         12  there is the biggest shortage of food in the system.

         13  A lot of people have talked about what's driving the

         14  shortage of food. The truth of the matter is that it

         15  is the Federal funding for TEFAP. But that is the

         16  biggest shortfall in the system right now. The Farm

         17  Bill is our biggest hope of making up the gap. I

         18  mean, there is a loss of over 12 million pounds of

         19  food to New York City alone just from cuts and

         20  TEFAP. As Doreen mentioned, it is driven by a lack

         21  of bonus commodity. But it is also driven by the

         22  fact that the program has been flat funded for the

         23  last five years while the cost of the food has

         24  increased.

         25                 I mean in the metro area alone, the
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          2  cost of food has increased ten percent in the last

          3  few years where as the actual funding for food

          4  hasn't increased at all. I would add to that whether

          5  or not emergency food funding has decreased or

          6  increased in the City, that debate can go on.

          7  Obviously, the numbers speak for themselves there.

          8  But also if there is an increase in the number of

          9  people turning to emergency food, then they are

         10  automatically should be an increase in the amount of

         11  money spent on emergency food at the City, State and

         12  Federal level.

         13                 The other point and I think this

         14  speaks to the role of emergency food programs as

         15  community centers. We have had huge success in the

         16  last three years connecting people from emergency

         17  food programs to food stamps. The last time we

         18  reported or brought our report to the Council, only

         19  31 percent of people going to emergency food

         20  programs were enrolled in food stamps. Now 46

         21  percent are. That is largely because the emergency

         22  food programs themselves have done a lot of

         23  outreach.

         24                 The other issue that is driving that

         25  increase is the fact that we have more people who
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          2  are enrolled in food stamps not able to make it to

          3  the end of the month. Eighty-four percent of them

          4  run out of the benefit at the three week mark, but

          5  24 percent of them run out of the benefit after one

          6  week. They are forced to rely on a combination of

          7  emergency food and food stamps. We are seeing that

          8  connection is happening all around. We have families

          9  that are using some meals. They are using schools

         10  meals and also using emergency food. We have a

         11  number of families that are not enrolled in

         12  healthcare programs that don't have health insurance

         13  so they are using emergency food to make up the gap.

         14                 The big sort of block in the system

         15  or I suppose the hole in the system is that there

         16  isn't full recognition that emergency food programs,

         17  even though they are small and even though they are

         18  volunteer run, play an enormously important role in

         19  the City. Yes, they don't have funding for food, but

         20  more importantly than that, they don't have funding

         21  for the other work they do. They don't have funding

         22  for the outreach work they do for the connecting

         23  people to whether it is job training programs or

         24  healthcare programs. They don't have staff. They

         25  just rely on volunteers to do that work.
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          2                 What we want to push for over the

          3  next few years is bigger investments in the

          4  Emergency Food Program network to do beyond food

          5  services. Obviously, we want to get them back up to

          6  speed. We want to get their shelves full again. But

          7  their bigger role is more important and the POS

          8  Program (phonetic) really speaks to that. There was

          9  some questions about when it was going to be

         10  expanded and how successful it is. Again, from our

         11  Food Change work we know that back in July over 600

         12  people have been tapped into to a true POS system

         13  and about 90 percent of them were actually enrolled

         14  in the program. In October and these numbers are

         15  slightly raw, it was over 600 people and over 80

         16  percent of them were enrolled in the program. So, It

         17  really speaks to the success of the program.

         18                 We would support HRA in going a

         19  little slowly before expanding it only because we

         20  know there are some kinks in the system. We are

         21  dealing with a lot of very small emergency food

         22  programs. They are always not up to speed when it

         23  comes to technology. We want to make sure that we

         24  iron out the kinks through the pilot program before

         25  expanding it across the City and sort of running the
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          2  risk of having it fall flat on its face. I would end

          3  with that that is the one caution we would have

          4  before expanding the program.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Thank you again

          6  for your testimony. It is always very helpful. We

          7  thank you both for your good work and we want to

          8  wish everyone -- oh, I'm sorry. I have been

          9  corrected. Okay. First I want to thank this panel.

         10  It was very helpful. We appreciate it. I also want

         11  to note that we have someone here for public

         12  testimony. The last name is Pitigala. I'm not sure

         13  I'm reading the right name properly. Very good. I'd

         14  like to call Mr. Pitigala up and we have his written

         15  testimony which will be submitted for the record as

         16  well. Sir, with public testimony we always limit it

         17  to two minutes. That the rule of General Welfare.

         18  Please, just summarize your written statement which

         19  also, of course, will be part of the public record.

         20                 MR. PITIGALA: Good afternoon, Council

         21  Chair Mr. DeBlasio and Council Members. My name is

         22  Wimal Pitigala. I'm trying to summarize a quick

         23  summary. This is my first testimony in front of the

         24  Council.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Welcome.
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          2  Congratulations.

          3                 MR. PITIGALA: My teacher is urging

          4  me, Dr. Davin (phonetic). Hunger is a well known and

          5  well debated in New York City. We have already went

          6  over this issue and the all non- profit

          7  organizations in the City, we are doing a great job

          8  to educate hunger. Human Resource Administration,

          9  Food Bank for New York City, City Harvest, City

         10  Meals on Wheels and Coalition for Hunger, all those

         11  organizations what I mentioned and not mentioned. We

         12  cannot under estimate effectiveness of these

         13  programs. These programs have created very high

         14  level of awareness among all of us.

         15                 Yet, there is a more vulnerable group

         16  of population to hunger. They are the home bound

         17  population. According to available data, there is an

         18  estimated nearly 100,000 home bound population in

         19  New York City.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Sir, I'm going

         21  to just say since I know you are going to run out

         22  your time and you do have the written testimony, why

         23  don't you go straight to the solutions. The solution

         24  is the part we should talk about.

         25                 MR. PITIGALA: Thank you. The

                                                            150

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  solutions are reconsider eligibility criteria for

          3  home bound individuals to receive food stamps,

          4  especially eligible income level should bring to a

          5  higher bracket. My second proposed solution is

          6  specialized units in each borough to service home

          7  bound population. This will help to address food

          8  needs of home bound population effectively and

          9  efficiently. These units can be set up within

         10  existing Human Resource Administration structure

         11  without additional cost. Establish door to door

         12  nutritional counseling service. The next one is

         13  constantly monitor home bound population's food and

         14  other needs. Make home visits to assess their needs

         15  and living conditions. Closely work with community

         16  organizations and local business leaders to secure

         17  more food services. And finally, conduct a

         18  comprehensive survey to measure number of homebound

         19  population and their living conditions, food and

         20  other needs.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Thank you. We

         22  appreciate your testimony. We will certainly put

         23  that into the record. And that's a helpful

         24  perspective in some issues we worked on before, but

         25  would like to work on more. Thank you very much.
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          2                 MR. PITIGALA: Thank you very much.

          3  Happy Thanksgiving.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Thank you. I

          5  would like to wish everyone a very Happy

          6  Thanksgiving. This hearing of the General Welfare

          7  Committee is adjourned.

          8                 (Hearing concluded at 2:11 p.m.)
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